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I am delighted to present the Annual Report of

the Mindarie Regional Council for the year ended

30 June 2005.

The major achievements by the Council during

the year can be summarised as follows:

v The continued provision of world-class

services for waste disposal to landfill for more

than 500,000 customers in the region.

v The continued expansion of our recycling

business, part icularly in regard to the

management of household hazardous waste.

v Expansion of our electr icity generation

capability via landfill gas.

v Purchase of a site at Neerabup for the Resource

Recovery Facility.

v Continued good work by the Community Engagement

Advisory Group (CEAG) on matters related to our

Resource Recovery Facility.

v On-going negotiation with the owners of Tamala Park

land on the establishment of security of tenure over

required land beyond the expiry of the existing lease.

v The development of a business plan FY 2005/2006.

v The completion of landfill in Stage One North cells.

v The completion of construction and commencement of

usage of the initial cells of the Stage 2 landfill.

v The development of a concept for waste management

education in the region.

The Council has continued to be involved in a number of

external forums during the year, and these have included

the Municipal Waste Advisory Council, and the associated

Officer Advisory Group, the Regional Council Co-operative

Working Group, Murdoch University Centre for Organic

Waste Management, the metropolitan branch of Local

Government Managers Austral ia, and the Waste

Management Association Australia (Western

Australian Division) 

The corporate management of the Council’s

business continues to be excellent, and this has

been substantiated through the completion of the

2004/2005 audit by the Council’s auditors.  A copy

of the audit report is included in this document.

The financial management has included not only

the satisfactory allocation of appropriate levels of

funds for future provisions, but also a review of the

Council’s fees and charges.

The Council is faced with a number of challenges

for the future.  The management of the existing

landfill, including the continuation of work on the Stage Two

facility, will be crucial for our on-going operations.  In

addition, the Council will face major issues in its pursuit of a

resource recovery capability, including the continuing

engagement with the regional community, the conduct of

the tender activity to identify a preferred contractor, and the

appointment of the contractor.

I thank all elected members of the Council for their work

over the reporting year.  I also express my appreciation to

the customers of our Council, as well as those who provide

an extensive range of consultative and logistical services to

our business.  Next, I thank Kevin Poynton, Chief Executive

Officer, and the staff based at Tamala Park, for their

continued good work in the execution of our business

activities to an excellent standard.  I would like to express

thanks to Doug Lambert and those other community

representatives who form our Community Engagement

Advisory Group - thank you for your excellent work and

generous devotion of time and effort to this work.

I commend this Annual Report to you.

Councillor Trevor Clarey

Chairman

Chairman’s Report

MRC Chairman, 
Cr Trevor Clarey

The site to be developed for the region’s first Resource Recovery Facility, in the Neerabup Industrial Area.
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It is with pleasure that I present my report on the

business of the Mindarie Regional Council for the

year ending 30 June 2005.  The business of the

Council is described in two broad dimensions:

v Management of current operations

v Projects

CURRENT OPERATIONS

Landfill Activity

The key business activity of the Council is

disposal of waste to landfill at the Tamala Park

Refuse Disposal Facility.  Details of this disposal for

the year ending 30 June 2005 are as follows:

Member Councils

City of Joondalup 69,351 tonnes

City of Perth 14,793 tonnes

City of Stirling 64,577 tonnes

City of Stirling Bales 24,879 tonnes

City of Wanneroo 61,320 tonnes

City of Wanneroo Residence 4,061 tonnes

Town of Cambridge 12,552 tonnes

Town of Victoria Park 13,002 tonnes

Town of Vincent 13,041 tonnes

277,576 tonnes

Other Depositors

City of South Perth 13,204 tonnes

Other Casuals 42,598 tonnes

Cover and Recycling Centre 36,000 tonnes

369,438 tonnes 

The receipt and processing of waste has been

as follows:

Total Tonnage of waste received

Consisting of:

l  Waste to landfill

- General Waste 329,146 tonnes

- Cover (from off site)  32,215 tonnes

l Greenwaste processed 4,292 tonnes

l Inert Storages 0 tonnes

l Recycled Items 

(taken from site) 3,785 tonnes

369,438 tonnes

Recycling Activity

The Council has continued to offer a recycling service to

the community, and this has resulted in an income of

$224,853 for the year 2004/2005.  

The business has been promoted through the local press

during the reporting year, and has been subsidised by the

receipt of funds from the Recycling Rebate Category of the

Waste Management and Recycling Fund.

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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MRC Chief Executive,
Mr Kevin Poynton

The MRC’s Landfill, Waste Disposal Facility, Recycling Centre and Administration Office at Tamala Park.

MARMION AVENUE

ENTRY

ADMINISTRATION

GAS POWER STATION

STAGE 2 PHASE 1 LANDFILL

STAGE 2 PHASE 2 LANDFILL -
Development begins in 2006

STAGE 1 - Revegetation in progress

LIMESTONE STOCKPILE

DOMESTIC WASTE
TRANSFER STATION

RECYCLING CENTRE

A new Articulated Dump Truck
was purchased during the year.
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Staff

The Council has continued to operate with a compliment of

24 permanent staff during the year.  The Enterprise

Bargaining Agreement, established previously, has worked

well.  Our staff have continued to operate in a professional,

diligent and cooperative manner through the year and

should be congratulated on their endeavours.  All staff have

been provided opportunities for training in areas relevant to

their work.  The annual review of the Chief Executive Officer

was successfully conducted by the Council in April 2005.

Customer Issues

Our Tamala Park team have continued to deliver excellent

service to our customers during the year.  The

administration conducted a stakeholder satisfaction survey

during 2004/2005, and the results from this exercise were

most pleasing.

Facilities

The Council’s improved administration facility has been in

operation since September 2000, and continues to be a

valuable component of our business.  The training room is

utilised for meetings, workshops, training and social events.

The Council has continued to meet at the facilities of

member Councils, and the hospitality of the member

organisations is to be applauded.  In addit ion, the

cooperation of the City of Stirling and Town of Cambridge

should be noted, with particular reference to these

organisations’ ability to provide facilities for a range of

events, including working group meetings, workshops and

other forums.

The Council approved, in early 2004, a contract for the

improvement to existing facilities, including the recycling

area, administration building, transfer station and workshop,

and this work has now been completed

Plant and Equipment

The Council continues to operate a fleet of contemporary

equipment.  The use of hire equipment, where appropriate,

is occurring, and this includes a tracked earthmoving item

for work on landfill batters, and elsewhere.

The Council purchased an Articulated Dump Truck during

the year, and this has resulted in improved efficiency and

effectiveness for the carriage of cover material on the site.

Occupational Safety and Health

The Council has continued to implement best practice

Occupational Safety and Health systems under the

guidance of professional staff from the Eastern Metropolitan

Regional Council.

Policy and Procedures

The Council has conducted its business in accordance

with its previously completed Business Manual.  

Appropriate amendments to this manual have occurred

during the reporting year, and this has included policies on

attendance at conferences and drug and alcohol use.  The

Council’s Business Manual is under review, and this

exercise should be completed by October 2005, with

respect to Council policies.

Records Management 

MRC Record Keeping Plan was updated during 2005 to

reflect the implementation of the TRIM Context electronic

records management system, which progresses the

Council from a previous manual, paper-based system to an

electronic environment.  The up-dated Record Keeping Plan

was resubmitted to the State Records Office in June 2005

and was formally approved for a period of 5 years until

2010.

Council completed Phase 1 of the overall electronic

document management (EDMS) implementation in

September 2004 with training programs delivered to

Corporate and Operational staff.  Phase 1 implementation

has been highly successful, with staff now confident and

comfortable with an electronic records management

application.   Phase 2 of the EDMS implementation

commenced in October 2005 with programs for system

support and staff training from external providers instigated.

Phase 2 of the EDMS project will continue for the remainder

of 2005/2006 and will progress MRC into a fully electronic

document management environment . Policies and

procedures will be further adjusted throughout 2005/2006

to reflect the new electronic application and relevant

legislative requirements.

Promotion

The Council continued to host a variety of groups of visitors

during the reporting year.  These have included school

groups, overseas visitors, representatives of government,

other Council groups, and members of the public.  The

Council conducted a successful Corporate Function at the

Matilda Bay Function Centre during the reporting year.

Regular editions of a newsletter – MRC News – have been

produced and circulated widely

Regulatory Issues

The Council continues to maintain an excellent working

relationship with the Department of Environment resulting in

the continued renewal of licence conditions for the Tamala

Park operation.  The annual Environmental Compliance

Audit was again conducted by Consultants from URS and

the results from this exercise were pleasing.  In addition, the

Council has worked closely with the CSIRO in regard to

Groundwater Management.  The review of the Council’s

Environmental Management and Monitoring Plan has been

completed, and formal State Government approval has now

been provided.  The administration is working with DOE

staff to develop an improved licence model for the site.

Tamala Park personnel are drilled in safety and emergency services procedures.

 



Regional Cooperation

The Council has continued to cooperate on a regional

basis with others.  Examples of this work include:

l The utilisation of the Eastern Metropolitan Regional

Council for Occupational Health and Safety support.

l The continued sharing of information with other

Regional Councils.

Landfill Operations

The Council continues to operate the largest Class Two

landfill facility in metropolitan Perth in accordance with best

practice.  Compaction standards have been excellent, with

more than one tonne of waste continuing to be disposed to

each cubic metre of “airspace”.  Work has continued on the

management of landfill gas from the existing landfill, the

final capping of the existing landfill, and the development of

a Stage Two landfi l l .   A number of operational

improvements have occurred during the year, including the

exploitation of existing limestone using a crusher facility,

and the use of a dust suppressant to improve traffic

conditions.

PROJECTS

The Council has conducted the following projects during

the reporting year:

l Implementation of the landfill engineering plan for

Stage One, particularly in relation to final capping and

vegetation.

l The continuation of extensive groundwater investigative

tasks by CSIRO.

l Initial works associated with development of a Stage

Two Landfill.

l Further work associated with the management of

landfill gas produced from the Stage One Landfill,

including generation of electricity.

l Progress of work associated with the introduction of a

resource recovery facility for the region, including the

purchase of a preferred site, the progress of

environmental approvals, the work of a community

engagement group, and liaison with City of Wanneroo

on planning matters.

l The introduction of a revised Financial Management

Model to the Council.

Financial Issues

The Council has continued to operate in accordance with

previously approved financial precepts. The audit for

f inancial statements for Year 2004/2005 has been

completed.  The Council has approved Budget 2005/2006

for implementation.

Future Directions

The Council has in place its key plans, namely, a revised

Strategic Plan, a Business Plan for 2005/2006, and an

approved Budget 2005/2006.  Significant projects for the

coming year are:

l The continuation of the exploitation of landfill gas within

sections of the Stage One Landfill.

l The continuation of construction of cells in the Stage

Two landfill.

l The revision of the Council ’s Regional Waste

Management Plan.

l The establishment, with the owner Councils, of an

amended lease for Tamala Park.

l Further work associated with the introduction of a

resource recovery capability within the region, including

site purchase, tender and contract award.

l Further implementation of the Australian Business

framework into the business of the Council.

l Implementation of the Council’s revised financial

management model.

l Adoption of an improved governance instrument, in the

form of an Establishment Agreement.

l A restructure of the Council’s administration including

the appointment of a Corporate Services Co-ordinator,

Finance and Business Manager, and a review of all

sections of the business.

Conclusion

In summary, I wish to express my appreciation to a number

of individuals and groups for their work during the year.

u The Council’s Chairman, Cr. Trevor Clarey.

u The Council’s Deputy Chairman, Cr Bruce Stevenson.

u The Chairman of the Council’s Secondary Waste

Treatment Facility Working Group, Cr. Brett Treby.

u All those other Councillors who have participated in

various forums associated with Council’s business.

u Those Officers from Member Councils who have been

heavily involved in forums such as the Technical

Working Group and Secondary Waste Treatment Facility

Working Group. 

u Chief Executive Officers of the Member Councils.

u The staff of the Mindarie Regional Council, particularly

the Managers – Mr Jim Goulias and Mr Mike Tolson.

u The excellent work of our external Project Manager,

Graeme Alford.

u All those customers of the Council’s business.

u Those external providers including Consultants, trades

people, suppliers and government agencies.

u The local community, for their continued interest and

involvement in the Council’s business.

Kevin F Poynton

Chief Executive Officer
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The Mindarie Regional Council approved a revised

Strategic Plan in February 2003.  This Plan is for the period

2004 – 2009.

Key elements of the plan include the following:

v A Mission Statement.

v Objectives.

v Strategies associated with each Objective.

The Council also recognises the importance of the

Strategic Plan, in terms of its relationship with the Principal

Activity Plan and the Annual Business Plan.  In this regard,

a Strategic Planning Working Group has been established,

and will continue to review progress against the plan, as

well as the external environment, in order to identify

possible improvements.

The mission of the Mindarie Regional Council is:

To provide effective, cost efficient and environmentally

sound waste and other resource management services

for the benefit of the region.

The Council’s current suite of Objectives are as follows:

Objective One – Resource Management

To operate resource management programmes, both

existing and “in planning,” in accordance with best

appropriate practice.

Objective Two  - Resource Business Creation

To identi fy and create new opportunit ies for the

development and growth of improved resource utilisation.

Objective Three – Industry Leadership

To provide leadership in the waste and related resource

industry.

Objective Four – Organisational Management

To ensure excellent organisational management through

improvement of the Council’s business and management

systems.

The Council has agreed a series of strategies, and

associated outcomes, to enable the achievement of these

objectives.  The Council constructs an Annual Business

Plan, in February each year, which provides a basis for

action in the forthcoming year, as well as the basis for the

Annual Budget.

The Council’s Strategic Plan

Above: An average 1000 tonnes of rubbish are consigned to Tamala Park’s Stage 2 Phase 1 landfill each day of the year.
Below: An MRC Council meeting in progress.
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The Council’s Annual Business Plan for the year 2004/2005, together with associated performance outcomes, is

described thus: 

APPROVED ACTION PROGRESS

Objective One: Resource Management

l Process estimated tonnages of resources as follows: l Received tonnage disposed in accordance with

licence conditions.

- Landfill:  310,000 tonnes

- Greenwaste: 12,000 tonnes

- Recycling: 5,200 tonnes

In accordance with licence and EMMP in a

profitable manner

l Obtain DOE approval to revised EMMP l DOE approval provided

l Implement revised Landfill Management Plan l Plan in progress

including capping and landfill

l Develop revised Master Plan for Tamala Park l Awaiting revised lease

l Execute bush management activities as follows: l Project completed on time and to budget

- implement limited bush management 

on capped landfill area

- finalise Bush Management Plan, following

endorsement of Master Plan l Pending

l Implement gas management plan l Production of ‘green power’ continuing

l Execute groundwater management activities as 

follows:

- Maintain existing groundwater monitoring 

via CSIRO l Annual ground water report completed

- Investigate options for groundwater monitoring l Options investigated

west of Marmion Avenue l Plan approved and in progress

l Progress Resource Recovery Facility by actions 

as follows:

- Finalise site location for SWTF l Site purchased

- Obtain environmental approvals l Environmental approvals obtained

- Execute tender activity l Tender activity in progress

- Develop MRC community liaison programme for l Community liaison in progress

SWTF for 2004/2005

l Develop revised Regional concept for l For action

Waste Management, including identification of 

“best practice” principles

l Plan and implement Community Engagement Plan l Communication plan implemented satisfactorily

2004/2005 including newsletters, publicity, Annual 

Report and Corporate Function and educational 

activities (Stakeholder survey refers)

Objective Two: Resource Business Creation

l Investigate business opportunities associated with l Knowledge transfer occurring with Shire of Gin Gin and

others within limitations of Constitution

- Knowledge transfer

- Expanded resource recovery capabilities

- Use of Tamala park land

- Landfill “beyond Tamala” l Limited work completed on use of Tamala Park and

future landfill.  For action post-revision of lease

Including preparation of appropriate business cases

Annual Business Plan 2004/2005
Performance Summary
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Approved Action Progress

Objective Three: Industry Leadership

l Participate in defined external industry-related forums l Participation in MWAC and WMAA (WA) in progress

l Research options for future waste and resource; l Options for integrated initiatives in progress with

industry development MWAC

l Develop integrated initiatives to capitalise l ‘Paintback’ initiative implemented

on these future options

l Initiate the process of community engagement, l Concept for community education approved by Council

particularly education, on the implications of those

future options

Objective Four: Organisational Management

l Finalise Establishment Agreement, and appropriate l Establishment Agreement nearing completion

Project Participation Agreements (late 2005)

l Secure Tamala park land, via new Lease l Revised lease for completion October 2005

l Maintain and improve existing contemporary

business systems, for example finance, corporate

l Ensure appropriate funding plan for Council l Loans activities in progress

activities, for example loan

Above: Limestone is crushed and used as covering on the landfill at Tamala Park.
Below: Processing of waste oils from restaurants for conversion to biodiesel to fuel small vehicles at Tamala Park.
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The Mindarie Regional Council (MRC) was constituted

under the Local Government Act 1960 (as amended) which

provided that two or more Municipalities may enter into and

submit for Ministerial approval an agreement proposing

constitution of a Regional District.

The Constitution Agreement provides for the establishment

of a Regional Council and designation of the function or

functions to be performed by the Regional Council within

the Region. 

In 1981 the Cit ies of Perth, Stir l ing and Wanneroo,

appreciating the likely future need of a site for waste

disposal in landfill, jointly acquired Lot 17 Mindarie, having

assessed that it possessed a number of characteristics

which suggested suitability for this purpose. The site has an

area of 432 hectares.

In due time, the need was realised and management

arrangements were prepared. It was decided that the

formation of a Regional Council was the advantageous

vehicle of management and the order of His Excellency the

Governor in Executive Council was granted for the creation

of the Mindarie Regional Council on 22 December 1987.

Commencing in 1988, studies were undertaken and reports

prepared for environmental assessment of the site.

Approval was secured and the subsequent preparation of

an Environmental Monitoring and Management Programme

(EMMP) undertaken. The Environmental Protection Authority

granted approval to the programme on 24 January 1990.

An area of 251 hectares within Lot 17 and fronting Marmion

Avenue became the subject of lease to the Mindarie

Regional Council with the city owners retaining possession

of the balance of Lot 17. The area was entitled “Tamala Park”  

Development of a well-engineered facility followed, and the

site was opened to receival from depositing Cities of Perth

and Wanneroo on 25 February 1991. Community utilisation

began on 1 June 1991. Since that time, the Towns of

Cambridge, Victoria Park and Vincent (formed from the City

of Perth restructure) commenced disposal.  The City of

Stirling commenced utilisation of the facility in April 1999.

The City of Joondalup (formed from the City of Wanneroo

restructure) commenced disposal from 1 July 1999 as a

separate entity to that of the City of Wanneroo.  The City of

South Perth continues to use the facility.  The population

served by the facility is approximately 500,000 persons.

Overview
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Illustrated map showing the location of Tamala Park.

MRC Councillors, from left (top) 
Bruce Stevenson, John Stewart and 
Terry Loftus; and (above) Steve Smith, 
Anne Fox and Elizabeth Re.



The Constitution Agreement of the Mindarie Regional

Council has been drawn pursuant to the provisions of

section 697 of the Local Government Act 1960 (as

amended) having been formally approved by the Minister

for Local Government and recommended to the Governor

in Executive Council on 22 December 1987.  

The designated function accorded to the MRC is 

“The orderly and efficient treatment and/or disposal of

waste delivered to a building or a place provided,

managed or controlled for those purposes by the

Regional Council”

Other powers and authorities are awarded in order to effect

the designated function.

Three amendments to the Agreement have been approved

by the Minister for Local Government as below:

Amendment No. 1 approved on 25 November 1996

which has the effect of: 

(i) Exempting from the definition of waste, material which

is retained by a member Local Government for the

purposes of recycling.

(ii) Requiring all member Local Governments to be bound

to dispose of waste as required by the Regional

Council and to such sites and places as nominated by

the Regional Council.

(iii) Permitting the Regional Council in writing to exempt a

member Local Government from the requirement of

delivery under such conditions as the Regional Council

deems fit.

(iv) Where a member Local Government fails to meet the

requirements of delivery a penalty equivalent to the fees

and charges which may have otherwise been due,

shall apply.

Amendment No. 2 approved on 25 November 1996

which has the effect of admitting to membership of

MRC the Towns of Cambridge , Victoria Park and

Vincent.

It should be noted that from 1 July 1994 the Towns were

accorded disposal at member Local Government rates and

charges; the intervening period to 25 November 1996

having been taken up by restructure processes of the City

of Perth and constitutional amendments by the MRC.

The first meeting of the enlarged Council was held at the

City of Stirling on 28 November 1996

Amendment No. 3 approved on 20 October 1999 which

has the effect of admitting to membership of MRC the

City of Wanneroo to reflect the split of the City of

Joondalup into the Cities of Joondalup and Wanneroo.

The first meeting of the further enlarged Council with duly

elected Council lors from the newly created local

governments was held on 17 February 2000.  Previous to

this, appointed Commissioners represented these Councils

effective from 18 December 1997 during this transition

period.  

It is intended that pursuant to the Local Government Act

1995 the Constitution will be re-written to be more closely

aligned to the terms of that legislation and consolidated

into an Establishment Agreement during Year 2005/2006. 

Constitution
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Council observers and officers at a meeting of the MRC held in the Chambers of the Town of Vincent.  

 



Above: Map showing the geographic
spread of the Mindarie Regional Council.

Left: The Recycling Centre at Tamala Park.

The Mindarie Regional Council currently comprises

delegates from each of the member Local Governments on

the basis of the acknowledged equity within the enterprise.

The delegates form the Council.

The membership of the Council, with effect 1 July 1999,

comprised City of Joondalup, City of Perth, City of Stirling,

City of Wanneroo, Town of Cambridge, Town of Victoria Park

and Town of Vincent.

Each Councillor may have a nominated deputy.

The Chairman of the Council is elected from the Council

each year at the first meeting after 30 June.

The Council ordinarily meets bi-monthly, beginning in

February each year generally on the third Thursday of the

month commencing at 4.30 pm. The venue of the meeting

is rotated between the Chambers of the member Local

Governments and advertised in accordance with the

provisions of the Local Government Act 1995.

The Council has appointed a Technical Working Group

comprising the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) as Chairman

and Senior Technical Officers from each of the member

Local Governments. This Group meets on a regular basis to

consider matters referred by the Council and the CEO

(MRC) and cause recommendations to be made to the

Council.

The Council now also has a Secondary Waste Treatment

Facility (SWTF) Working Group, with a Councillor as

Chairman, which is overseeing the introduction of a

secondary waste treatment capability in the region.

More recently, the Council has established an Audit

Committee, in conformance with Department of Local

Government and Regional Development guidelines.

Structure
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The Mindarie Regional Council is the leading waste

management authority in Western Australia and handles

some 350,000 tonnes of waste each year at its landfill

facility at Tamala Park, about 35km north of Perth. 

The waste is generated by about 500,000 people living in

Joondalup, Perth, Stirling, Wanneroo, Cambridge, Victoria

Park and Vincent

To continue to provide world’s best practice waste

management solutions, the MRC continues to develop its

available landfill capacity at Tamala Park, as well as

investigate and implement various resource, re-use and

recycling strategies.  

While resource recovery is the way of the future, there is and

always will be a need for landfill.  As resource recovery

develops and expands over time, hopefully the amount of

waste ending up in landfill will dramatically reduce.

Landfill is currently the largest operation undertaken by the

MRC. Stage 1 was completed in November 2004, with the

Stage 2 area commencing full operation immediately

thereafter.  Stage 1’s capacity of 3 million cubic metres took

13 years to fill.  

Stage 2’s available landfill capacity is about 6.7 million

cubic metres. The time it takes to fill the void will be highly

dependent of the amount of resource recovery that can be

undertaken in the future.

The MRC is currently progressing its plans to introduce its

first resource recovery facility in the region. The facility is

expected to divert about 100,000 tonnes a year of domestic

waste from landfill. This waste, which is a potential resource,

will be processed to remove the majority of the organic

portion and separate recyclable materials, including plastic,

metal and glass.

The organic component will be further processed to

produce compost, which can be used as a soil conditioner

in Perth’s nutrient-deficient soils. 

Once the first stage of the resource recovery facility is

operational, it is expected preliminary work will begin on

preparing for the development of two further stages to

further significantly reduce the amount of waste ending up

in the landfill.

In parallel with the RRF development, the MRC also has a

number of smaller recycling operations that are successfully

helping to reduce the volume of waste sent to landfill.

‘Green’ waste is received on site and mulched under

contract. The mulched material is removed from site and

used to produce garden products. This operation diverts

about 5,000 tonnes of green waste from landfill each year.

Another highly successful recycling operation is the Tamala

Park Recycling Centre, where used goods are accepted

free-of-charge, displayed and offered for re-sale to the

general public at a nominal charge.

Co-located at the Recycling Centre is a household

hazardous substances disposal service, where members of

the public can drop off waste oils, paints and chemicals.

These substances are sent to off-site recycling facilities to

be reprocessed.

Paper, cardboard, plastics and white goods are also

collected and sold to various recycling facilities. About 7,800

tonnes of recycled material (excluding green waste) is

collected each year at Tamala Park and diverted from

landfill.

In the near future, Tamala Park, in conjunction with AMCOR,

will undertake a trial for the bulk collection of cardboard.

The cardboard will be collected and placed in an AMCOR

compactor and sent to the company’s Spearwood facility

for recycling. It is hoped the trial will increase the amount of

cardboard recycling from the current 15 tonnes a month to

about 50 tonnes a month.

The MRC is committed to resource recovery and recycling

of material that would traditionally end up in landfill, and is

consistent with the MRC Strategic Plan.

MRC in Operation
Changing Tradition
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Above: The Recycling Centre at Tamala Park.  Below: Greenwaste mulching in progress.

 



Stage 1 – the past

Stage 1 of the Tamala Park landfill has now reached

maximum capacity, with a total of 3 million tonnes disposed

in this area between 1991 and November 2004. Since

completion of the landfill operation, the final landfill cap has

been constructed. The cap, consisting of plastic, sand and

limestone layers, was placed over the waste to provide a

protective barrier between the waste and the environment.

The total covered area of Stage 1 is approximately 110,000

square metres.

A landfill gas extraction network has been fully installed

throughout the Stage 1 area.  The network comprises gas

wells, which extract large volumes of landfill gas. The

extracted gas is used to produce sufficient ‘green power’ to

provide electricity for about 5000 houses.

Revegetation of the capped area has also recently been

completed. The Stage 1 south area was rehabilitated in

2004 while the northern area was completed in Autumn

2005.  Revegetation consists of planting a range of native

seedlings and spreading grass and native plant seeds over

the cap.

After one year of growth, the southern area is well

established with vegetation cover. Even in the relatively

harsh environment, the rehabilitation is proving effective in

protecting the cap from erosion and offering a habitat for

fauna and flora.

Stage 1 North was revegetated in Autumn 2005 using

similar methods to those employed in the southern area.

Initial indications are that the seedlings and seeds have

taken well during winter and that early Spring rains will

assist in improving vegetation growth rates.

The revegetated areas will be monitored for three years to

determine plant survival rates and general ground cover

condition. Lessons learnt during this period of monitoring

wil l be used to determine future methods for site

rehabilitation.

Stage 2 – the present

With Stage 1 nearing completion, preparation of the Stage 2

area commenced in 2003 and continued through to the

end of 2004. Stage 2 is a world best practice lined landfill,

whereas Stage 1 was unlined. Stage 2 will be developed in

three phases over a number of years.

The first phase was constructed during 2004 and will be

filled during 2005. The excavation and lining of the second

phase will take place during 2005/6 with landfill ing

commencing in mid-2006. Once the second phase is

substantial ly ful l ,  the last phase wil l commence

construction.

The timing of the future phase of construction will depend

on the waste tonnage being sent to landfill. The more

recycling and waste diversion that can be achieved by the

MRC, the longer the life of the remaining landfill capacity.

The signif icant dif ference between the Stage 1

development and the Stage 2 development is that Stage 2

is a lined landfill. The liner on the base and walls of the

landfill protects the groundwater from the impact of the

waste mass.

As Stage 2 is progressively filled with waste over time, the

completed areas will be capped and landfill gas extraction

networks installed. This will progressively increase the

volume of gas being collected and subsequently increase

the amount of ‘green power’ being generated.

Landfill Operations

MINDARIE REGIONAL COUNCIL u ANNUAL REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 u Page 13

Aerial view of the Stage 2 Phase 1 landfill in the foreground, and the adjoining Phase 2 in the centre.

 



While the Mindarie Regional Council progresses its plans

to establish the first stage of a Resource Recovery Facility in

the region, it is also increasing its landfill capacity at Tamala

Park.

A Council meeting on October 27 accepted a $4.7 million

tender from Carey Mining to excavate and stockpile on site

about 800,000 cubic metres of earth and limestone from an

area immediately adjacent to its Stage 2 Phase 1 landfill,

which began accepting waste for landfill in May last year.

Work on excavating the new landfill section, known as

Stage 2 Phase 2 East, is expected to be completed next

April. 

Another contract, likely to be awarded next February, will see

the application of an impervious membrane lining applied

to the excavated area to minimise the possibility of leachate

into the groundwater.

The new section is likely to be ready to accept landfill by

July 2006.

MRC Chief Executive Mr Kevin Poynton said the extension

of Tamala Park’s landfill capacity was essential.

“The Resource Recovery Facility will not be operational until

2008,” he said. “In the meantime, we continue to receive on

average about 1000 tonnes of waste each and every day

generated by about 500,000 people living in our region.

Most of that waste has to be sent to landfill.

“The Resource Recovery Facility is the most significant step

in the MRC’s history in terms of its capacity to reduce the

volume of waste sent to landfill. Eventually, the facility will

help us reduce that volume by up to 70 per cent.

“However, there will always be a need to send some

proportion of our waste to landfill. Our goal is to ensure that

it’s as small a proportion as possible,” he said.

Tamala Park has additional capacity beyond the current

development – to the west and south of the existing site.

Excavation of the final stage is not expected to be

undertaken until 2009.

The MRC is investigating options available to it to dispose

of the limestone stockpiles resulting from previous and new

excavation works. It is possible the limestone could be

crushed on site and offered to local councils, developers,

construction, and transport companies at $2 a tonne.

Landfill Capacity Extended

Tamala Park Operations Manager Mike Tolson overlooks the Stage 2 Phase 1 landfill. The elevated view, from the top of the site
of the new Stage 2 Phase 2 landfill, will eventually disappear. 
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The MRC is committed to rehabilitating the Tamala Park site

so that, on completion of the waste management activities,

the site can be returned to pre-landfill condition. This

commitment applies not only to the active landfill areas, but

to the entire site.

The active landfill areas will be capped and

revegetated as part of normal operations.

Areas beyond the active landfill will also be

rehabil i tated, start ing with previously

disturbed areas and areas of high visibility

from the site boundaries.

In 2005, extensive effort was put in to

rehabilitate an old limestone quarry area to

the south-east of the site.  Site access roads

were rationalised and obsolete roads

rehabilitated.

The site rehabilitation included:

Selection of native species for planting

Initial weed control of affected areas

Ripping and soil preparation

Seedling planting

Seed spreading

Fertilising

On-going weed control

Three years of monitoring.

The MRC has an annual program of site

rehabil i tat ion. While the program

concentrates primarily on rehabilitation of

disturbed areas, additional effort will be

invested in improving the condition of the

undisturbed areas.

Methane gas extracted from the Tamala Park landfill is

being converted into electricity by Landfill Gas and Power

Pty Ltd’s on-site power station and sold into the Western

Power grid.

The power station captures and converts sufficient gas to

generate 5000 kilowatts of electricity per hour, sufficient to

provide lighting and power for about 5000 households

under normal conditions.

LGP designed, built and owns the power station, extracts

gas under licence to the MRC, and monitors the gas field

on a daily basis.

LGP is also responsible for ensuring the plant and

operations satisfy all relevant licence requirements of the

Department of Environment.

Landfill sites produce big volumes of methane gas through

the decomposition of putrescible waste contained within

the sites.

Methane gas trapped below ground in landfill sites can be

produced for a period of up to 50 years and can be

commercially extracted for 15 to 20 years.

The landfill gas is classified as a renewable energy source

and the electricity produced is termed ‘green power.’

The Company sells the electricity generated at the Tamala

Park facility to private clients through the Western Power

grid.

The power station has been designed to operate in

harmony with the surrounding environment , while

minimising noise and the visual impact on adjacent land

uses.

The facility is providing the local community, business, local

government, and the local and global environment, with

benefits extending well into the future.

Green Power at Tamala Park
A Joint Venture between the Mindarie Regional Council and Landfill Gas and Power Pty Ltd

Tamala Park Site Rehabilitation

Members of the Community Engagement Advisory Group inspect the plant’s operations centre.
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With the tendering process imminent for its new resource

recovery facility, Mindarie Regional Council is poised to

enter a new era in waste management. The focus now

moves from landfill to resource recovery and beyond, and

with this development comes the challenge to build

community understanding of the significance of resource

recovery, and to broaden their horizons about

sustainable waste management and the world

beyond recycling. In this article, Dr Gae Synnott

discusses the initial framing of Mindarie’s waste

education strategy, the process used to develop

to this point, and what lies ahead.

Introduction

The Mindarie Regional Council (MRC) is Western

Australia’s largest waste management authority,

responsible for the disposal of some 350,000

tonnes of municipal waste generated each year

by about 500,000 residents living in its seven member

Councils - Joondalup, Perth, Stirling, Wanneroo, Cambridge,

Victoria Park and Vincent.

Currently, the MRC disposes of this waste at its landfill

facility at Tamala Park in Perth’s northern suburbs. Tamala

Park has been receiving waste since February 25 1991.

The facility also offers an advanced waste transfer station for

members of the public, a comprehensive Recycling Centre,

waste oil receival station, hazardous waste receival point,

free firewood, greenwaste mulching and a power station

which captures methane gas trapped below the landfill and

converts it to electricity with the capability of generating

5000 kilowatts per hour, sufficient to provide light and power

for about 5000 households under normal conditions. This

project is a joint venture between the MRC and Landfill Gas

and Power Pty Ltd.

Having opened the gates at Tamala Park, it took about ten

years to dispose of two million tonnes of waste to landfill.

Between 2001 and 2004, the landfill consumed another

one million tonnes. And therein lies the problem:  more to

come….

Moving away from landfill

In mid-2002, the MRC embarked on an environmentally

responsible project to establish the first Resource Recovery

Facility in the region, which is expected to reduce the

amount of household waste sent to its Tamala Park landfill

by more than 70%. The tender documentation for Stage 1

has been released, with an anticipated commissioning date

of March 2008. Stage 1 will take up to 100,000 tonnes per

year of household waste. Stages 2 and 3, when they follow,

will divert even more household waste from landfill. 

The MRC is not alone in taking this action. The Southern

Metropolitan Regional Council, Western MRC, Eastern MRC,

and the South-East MRC are all travelling the same path,

some further along than others.  

All of this is taking place within the broader State context

which has been branded by the Waste Management Board

as the goal of “Zero waste”. 

All this is very good, but requires the involvement, support

and commitment of the community to a zero waste future

for it to become a reality. 

And so, accompanying these developments has

been a move by all parties to focus on waste

education. Again, all are travelling a similar path,

and all are committing significant resources to

the development of waste education initiatives.  

The Waste Management Board recently unveiled

its communication plan to achieve the goal of

“Zero waste – Live the Vision” , and has

convened a Waste Educators Working Group to

support communication and interaction between

people supporting waste education work at State, Regional

and Local levels. 

MWAC is developing a draft Policy Statement on Waste

Communication “to enunciate the Local Government

posit ion on the objectives and practice of Waste

Communication and the roles and responsibilities of Waste

Communicators”.

Local Councils have been undertaking waste education for

years by providing information about what you can and

can’t put in your bin, and what you can and can’t recycle.

Mindarie Regional Council is there, too, with the recent

development of a draft concept for waste education. 

Across State, Regional and Local sectors, considerable

market research has been, and is being, undertaken on

community attitudes to waste. Common findings are that

the community accepts the principles behind waste

diversion, that landfill is a wasteful practice, that there is a

need to do something more sustainable with waste, and

that they might have to pay more to achieve this.

It also shows that the community associates waste

diversion and “doing the right thing” for the environment

with kerbside recycling, and not with resource recovery. This

means that while the community supports moving away

from landfill to find more environmentally responsible things

to do with waste, people see the solution as being

recycling.  

While recycling does recover items that have a value for

sale or re-use, and in doing so saves considerable

amounts of energy that would otherwise be expended to

produce new products from scratch, these waste products

are generally not the ones that lead to environmental

impacts. It is organic waste – green waste from the garden,

and food scraps from the kitchen – that cause the

problems in landfill. 

Developing a Waste Education Strategy
for Mindarie Regional Council

By Dr Gae Synnott BA, MBA, FPRIA
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People haven’t yet made the connection that resource

recovery not only tackles the waste that can cause

problems, but can divert a much greater percentage of

waste from landfill than recycling will ever be able to do.

All players, it seems, are aligned in the need to move

community understanding beyond recycling, to connect

them in to the bigger picture of sustainable waste

management, and to connect sufficiently with community

members to inspire them to participate accordingly, whether

the message is waste minimisation or resource recovery, or

both.

The big picture of resource management 

and the opportunity for MRC

The MRC sees it this way: I f we envisage waste

management as a ladder going from landfill up towards a

future of sustainable waste management, then as a society

we are already a few rungs up the ladder with recycling,

reducing and re-using behaviours. 

The introduction of a resource recovery capability takes us

several rungs further up the ladder. It is a quantum leap, in

fact, because it moves us towards thinking about waste as

a resource – a commodity – to be used, rather than to be

dumped and buried. By making something usable out of

waste, resource recovery requires us to think about:

u What we might take out of the waste stream before

recovery to improve the usable product generated

through recovery processes; and

u What value-added opportunities arise from the waste

material that is removed before resource recovery. 

Further rungs on the ladder include:

u Creating retrieval, disposal and recovery systems to

remove a variety of problem waste products from the

household waste stream:

l Batteries, pesticides, herbicides, and paint

l Computers, mobile phones and old televisions

l Green waste from the waste stream

u Minimising waste

u Doing composting at home/ re-using things at home

and using things more than once

u Packaging reduction and Extended Producer

Responsibility gains.

If any of these were achieved across large percentages of

the population, another quantum leap would be made in

the management of waste.

Residents in the Mindarie region are individually on different

rungs of the ladder in terms of their own waste awareness,

knowledge and behaviour. 

Mindarie Regional Council has accepted the role that it’s

not there just to deal with the waste, but to play an active

role in achieving sustainable waste management --

minimising waste and maximising the use of waste as a

resource.

The MRC sees its challenge in undertaking waste

education is to develop and implement a strategy that

builds community participation in a regional resource

management cycle that reduces waste to landfi l l ,

maximises re-use, recycling and recovery, and which

actively seeks better ways to manage and minimise waste.

It will build community participation through education,

consultation and any other appropriate means.

Additional and associated challenges are to:

(a) Improve residents’ awareness, knowledge and

commitment to “responsible waste behaviour”; and

(b) Be mindful of the waste education work being done at

State and Local Government levels, specifically the

broader framework of waste management outlined in the

WA Government’s Statement of Strategic Direction for

Waste Management in Western Australia, released in

September 2004. 

The role of the education strategy is to help residents to see

and understand the broader waste management context for

residents and to lay out the challenge: “How can we work

together to make this work better?”

Kevin Poynton, CEO of Mindarie Regional Council, explains

it: “If we, as a community, can identify the factors and

incentives that would incline us toward being more

responsible about the ways in which we manage our own

waste, then we can identify what init iatives we can

undertake now to help achieve that goal”. 

And we’re about to undertake more research to try and

answer this critical question.
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Armed with that information we’ll then develop the waste

education strategy which will link people in to the broader

waste management context by (from MWAC’s draft position

paper):

u Conveying information on waste issues, waste

management systems, and the relevance of these

things to broader issues such as sustainability;

u Raising awareness of the positive and negative

contributions of individuals to waste issues and waste

management systems; and

u Promoting values which are favourable to addressing

waste problems.

Our objectives may be along these lines (from MWAC’s

draft position paper):

a. To ensure that people appropriately use and support the

range of waste services that Local Governments provide; 

b.  To assist people to link their waste behaviours with

broader economic, social and environmental issues;

c. To show people how to minimise the waste they

produce; and

d.  To foster the values and awareness which motivate

people to ‘do the right thing’.

Recognising that people are at different starting points on

issues of waste management, our aim would be to build

their awareness and knowledge overall, and to encourage

them to do something more than they’re currently doing

within the sustainable waste management cycle.

Incremental improvements all help, starting from whatever

point they’re at.

Benefits for MRC of community buy-in to the big picture

Does waste education provide tangible benefits, or is it

simply an add-on? 

Mindarie Regional Council’s purpose is to provide effective,

cost-efficient and environmentally sound waste and other

resource management services for the benefit of the region.

It does this through five core areas (Strategic Plan 2002-

2007): 

1. Waste Management

2. Waste Minimisation to Landfill

3. Waste Industry Participation

4. Organisational Sustainability

5. Resources

Key performance indicators in some of these core areas

include “Level of community awareness of MRC activities”,

and “Level of improvement in community understanding

with regard to waste management”.

Mindarie Regional Council sees that waste education and

a more knowledgeable and motivated community will

achieve tangible returns, such as:

1. It establishes a basis for incremental and measurable

improvements in waste management . Increased

community knowledge and acceptance of current waste

management changes wil l set the foundation for

changes in the future.

2. It gains community trust for current waste management

practices and changes, so that future changes will be

more readily accepted.

3. It demonstrates to those people in the community who

are interested that MRC is undertaking waste

management responsibly.

4. By raising the community profile of responsible waste

management, more people will participate in “responsible

waste behaviour”.

5. Higher rates of community participation in “responsible

waste behaviour” will translate into more usable waste

being diverted to value-added processes rather than to

landfill.

6. It achieves a profile for MRC and member Councils as

organisations that are actively dealing with the issues of

resource management, not just dealing with the waste.

Conclusion

By early 2006 it is expected the Mindarie Regional Council

will have developed its waste education strategy, and will

have a set of performance indicators to aim for, and a set of

benchmarks against which to monitor progress. We will be

two years ahead of the commissioning of the new resource

recovery facility and well placed to develop appropriate

messages to support this new initiative. 

I would like to thank my colleague John Bryant for his

rigorous questioning and unflagging enthusiasm for this

project.
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MRC Operations Manager at Tamala Park Mike Tolson (left) 
and the City of Joondalup’s Mural Arts Officer Sam Allen 

with a pile of collected paint spray cans to be used for
sanctioned wall murals within the City.



Report by CEAG Members Darrin Smith and Mathew

Walton, with assistance from MRC Project Manager

Graeme Alford.

This article is a slightly condensed version of the original

report.

The purpose of the study tour to New South Wales was to

investigate various education centres attached to waste

facilities. NSW was chosen as the preferred destination due

to the wide range of waste facilities and associated

education facilities present there. 

The study tour investigated facilities ranging from traditional

landfill sites to those incorporating the latest resource

recovery facility, including two sites using technology

currently under consideration by MRC as possible

technologies for the Neerabup RRF facility.

The types and scope of education facil i t ies varied

significantly between sites, and this report aims to present

the findings of the study tour with

respect to each of the sites visited

and their relevant points.

The conclusion attempts to draw the

most relevant aspects of each site

together to form the basis for a

framework that CEAG can use during

the development of the MRC RRF

education facil i ty and ongoing

operations of the proposed education

facility.

Newcastle Landfill Site

This site a traditional landfill site with a Materials Recovery

Facility attached. The facility has a dedicated Education

Centre incorporated into the on-site Administration Centre.

Operational aspects

Despite the Education Centre occupying a significant area

of the Administration Building, it still had only about 1,000

visitors per year. The Centre had been in operation for about

10 years. Of those visitors, a significant number were

students, which is a reflection of the NSW educational

curriculum. There was an approximate 50:50 split of primary

and secondary students.

The Centre employs two dedicated Waste Management

Officers (both half-time positions filling a single full-time

position). The officers spend most of their time at the

Council’s Main Office and attend the Centre as required.

The Education Centre came about as a result of guidelines

that were included in legislation at the time (Waste

Management Act 1995/2000).

Educational aspects

The Education Officer uses a more “hands-on” exercise for

primary students (green bin sort ing) and a more

assignment-based exercise for secondary students. 

The Council provides information to ratepayers about the

recycling of specific items on request, that is, a person can

call and ask “how do I recycle?”  These enquiries are

handled by the Education Officer.

The community message has been modified over time by

the Centre and there was recognition that the message

needed to be updated over time to maintain relevance.

An example of this was Newcastle City Council moving

from a message of recycling to a message of waste

avoidance in recognition that its recycling message seems

to be working well, evidenced by the low contamination

rates of their recyclables.

The Centre and the Education Officers also carried out

specific targeted education when a

problem is identified in the waste

stream. For example, a problem

with high lead contamination levels

was rectified using a programme

to encourage better recycling of

automotive and marine batteries,

thus eliminating them from the

waste stream entering the MRF

facility.

Design aspects

Acoustics of the building were not ideal, although this was

not unexpected, given that the main room used for

education was constructed mainly of reflective materials i.e.

the use of soft furnishings, carpet and or wall or ceiling

treatments would have alleviated the problem.

The welcoming display and murals were attractive and

informative, although the material was a little dated. This

had been identified and was in the process of being

updated.

The Centre was constructed using energy-efficient design

and incorporates energy and water-saving features, such as

rain water tanks and solar power. The overall design of the

Centre is modern and striking, incorporating a sandwich

construction curved steel roof.

Port Stephens Wetlands Centre

The Wetlands Centre, while not specifically a waste

disposal site, was briefly toured as an example of a

successful environmentally focussed Education Centre. The

Centre has been refurbished from former football clubrooms

to a Centre which educates and displays information about

the surrounding wetland environment.  The wetlands were

converted from a sports oval, built on the site of a previous

landfill.

CEAG Visit to Waste Facilities in NSW
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CEAG Members Mathew Walton (centre) and
Darrin Smith visit a facility during the tour.



Operational aspects

The number of visitors to the Centre was approximately

8,000 per year, of which the majority were students. The mix

was estimated to be approximately two-thirds primary and

the balance secondary, with some university level teacher

trainees using the Centre for their training.

Educational Aspects

The Education Centre’s main source of funding is from the

NSW Education Department and, therefore, the programme

focussed on teaching that component of the curriculum.

The student education cost was approximately $5 per

head.

The Centre has an attached café which also generates a

significant component of the income. The Centre has two

full-time teachers (funded by Education Department) and

one Administration Officer.

The staff identified that in order to cater for secondary

students, any education programme must be sufficiently

flexible to fit in with the students’ schedule. It is harder for

secondary teachers to find the necessary time to visit the

Centre, whereas it is easier for primary students to take an

entire day off to visit.

Design aspects

The Centre has a large classroom area separate from the

main display and café area and a dedicated student entry

that caters for full-class sizes.  It is entirely suitable for its

purpose as this area of the Centre is a dedicated

classroom.

Port Stephens Council RRF

Port Stephens Council have in place a Build-Own-Operate

(BOO) contract with EWT for a Bedminster plant. The

contract with EWT included EWT operating an Education

Facility in conjunction with the Council. The genesis of the

plant was determined by the technical and physical

requirements of the Council (i.e. to create a new landfill site

was unattractive due to the geography and public

sentiment).

The Council determined that the plant would be built, and

went to the public with a statement of intent and benefits.

The operation of the plant was based on a “Partnering

Charter” between Port Stephens and EWT and, therefore,

the contract document was only 24 pages. I t was

mentioned that since the introduction of the plant, the

waste service charges at Port Stephens had increased

approximately 8% per annum.

Operational Aspects

The Education Centre was initially very busy (approximately

1,000 visitors per year) in the first two years, due mainly to

the plant demonstrating the new technology, then dropped

off significantly (approximately 250/year) once residents

became familiar with the technology. The Education Centre

did not do much promotion after that time and this was

certainly a factor in the decreased numbers.

Even though the Centre and plant are not on the same site,

visitors would still want to see the plant, which was located

sufficiently close to easily allow this.

Educational Aspects

The introduction of a new bin system at Port Stephens will

give some emphasis on the Education Centre re-focusing

its message and this is being used as an opportunity to

update the Centre with the message Council was putting

out and community expectations of what the plant should

be delivering.

In the past, single “one-off” education programmes have

worked well, for example a battery bounty was used when

high lead levels were identified in the compost, not unlike

those used by other Councils.

It was felt that the latest technology may disengage the

customer from the waste treatment process. EWT attempted

to keep the Centre simple and “earthy”; there’s no substitute

for actually seeing, smelling and touching the product. This

was identified as a critical element of education.

Port Stephens has identified that new residents to the area

probably are not picking up the local recycling message,

but rather are bringing the message from their old

community and, therefore, there was an ongoing need for

education.

The Centre also had excellence awards on display as well

as historical documents relating to the centre and RRF.

Design Aspects

The Education Centre for this facility is a refurbished farm

house and sheds. The main classroom and display area is

a large shed and, although renovated, had difficulties with

climate control.

Both Council and EWT representatives felt, however, that the

facility was quite suitable for its purpose and the proximity

to the RRF plant was useful.
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CEAG representatives discuss education issues with personnel at a facility in the Eastern States during their visit. 

 



Glengarry House and MRF (Wollongong)

Wollongong City Council operate a MRF facility in addition

to its landfill facility. Glengarry House is a heritage-listed

building directly opposite the MRF that the Council have

established as a Waste and Environmental Education

Centre.  Wollongong Council had previously contracted a

RRF, which has ceased operation due to technical

difficulties. Wollongong has no intention of revisiting a RRF

and will continue with landfill for the foreseeable future.

Operational Aspects

There are approximately 3,000 visitors through the Centre

each year. The MRF facil i ty and landfi l l  services

approximately 72,000 houses and 200,000 residents within

the region.

Council has a “green team” that supports Glengarry

House’s one full-time staff member.  The Green team has

four members and does follow-up visits to schools, targets

specif ic ethnic groups and conducts a continuous

education program.

Council recognises the need to continually educate the

community and also continues a small community focus

group, mainly to hear concerns of residents located close to

the MRF and landfill facility. 

The Council’s education budget is approximately $300,000

to $400,000 per annum, which was assumed to include

staff costs. The Council ’s objectives include Key

Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for the Education Centre. As

part of measuring these KPI’s, Wollongong was about to

engage a research programme to investigate the impact of

its waste education on the community. The reported

participation rates in recycling had been fairly constant at

between 85-95% for the past ten years, according to the

Manager Waste Services.

There are currently no volunteers at the Centre, however,

they are investigating the use of volunteers in setting up a

permaculture garden at their Centre.

The Centre also has approximately 12 bus subsidies of

$100 per school available to assist with the offsetting of

transport costs for classes to visit the centre.

Educational Aspects

As with the other sites, the Centre’s education programmes

are designed to satisfy the NSW government’s curriculum of

waste education and Council ’s waste management

objectives. 

All programmes are free to Wollongong residents. Residents

and students from other local government areas pay a fee.

As part of the tour of the MRF, younger students form a

“truck” and weigh in on the weighbridge, try to guess the

combined weight and then weigh out as a group. The

centre also runs competitions for schools in the area. The

staff had identified the need to keep the Centre and its

displays up-to-date and this was underway.

The displays are extremely well presented and there is a

large amount of information on a wide range of recycling

topics.

Much of the Centre’s success is due to the enthusiasm of

the staff.

Design Aspects

Glengarry House cost approximately $750,000 to restore

due to various restrictions and extra requirements of using a

heritage-listed building.

This led to some issues with the classroom space not

being entirely suitable.

The Council have, however, done an excellent job within the

constraints of such a building.

The Centre has a live video link to the MRF, which may

assist with OH&S issues with visitors to the plant. There

may be some legal issues of monitoring employees of the

plant, particularly if they are employed by a contractor.

There were some further design aspects that were under

consideration, such as the establishment of a permaculture

garden and increased shade for outdoor activities for

students.

Eastern Creek UR-3R Facility

The Eastern Creek UR-3R is operated under a Build-Own-

Operate (BOO) between Global Renewables Limited and

Waste Services NSW. 

This means that the facility is not administered by the Local

Government Area (Blacktown City Council) in which it is

located, but rather by the State Government, which is

attempting to encourage Local Governments to use the

facility. 

At the time of the visit there was only one local Government

using the facility, being Fairfield City Council, which adjoins

Blacktown City Council.
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From left: MRC’s Resource Recover Facility Project Director John King, Waste Management Board Chairman Noel Davies, 
CEAG Chairman Doug Lambert and MRC Chief Executive Kevin Poynton.

 



Operational Aspects

The contract with Global Renewables is such that, while the

facility provides a large meeting room/education centre

located in the Administration Centre of the facility, the

responsibility for actually providing any education lies with

the participating LGAs.  At the time of the visit, the meeting

room was being used for just that.  Global Renewables

have a large amount of information available for the use of

Council Education Officers, and a genuine desire to

communicate that information, but carrying out community

education appeared outside the scope of their contract.

Educational Aspects

As discussed above, at this time, Global Renewables and

hence the facility was not conducting any education

programmes. This is the responsibility of the participating

Councils, of which there is one at this time (Fairfield City

Council).  It should be noted however, that during the initial

community consultation process, Global Renewables

representatives had a significant role in presenting the plant

concept to the community.

Design Aspects

As would be expected from a modern facility, the meeting

room is modern and well equipped. While devoid of any

displays (apart from some Global Renewables corporate

posters), the size of the room is quite suitable for large

classes, and has access to the usual technology

infrastructure required by a modern classroom.

The room has excellent access to the facility via elevated

walkways that continue inside the facility. The walkways are

enclosed and air-conditioned and have been cleverly

designed to allow the entire process to be followed through,

from initial delivery of waste to the sorting floor, through to

the final compost hall and maturing piles located just

outside the meeting room.

Summary

One common feature of the centres visited was that they

had all recognised the important contribution community

education makes to the recycling or resource recovery

process. While in most cases this was driven by a specific

need, i.e. to meet certain recovery targets, or to eliminate a

particular problem in the waste stream such as high lead

levels, this does not diminish from the positive outcome of

these educational activities.

A significant motivator for the waste education process in

NSW is the existence of a specific component of the

primary and secondary curriculum focusing on recycling

and resource recovery. For most sites this has formed the

basis for their core educational activities in addition to their

wider community education activities.

For one centre at least (Port Stephen Wetlands Centre), this

has translated into two staff members whose cost is

covered by the NSW Education Department. This in itself is

a significant bonus for the Centre’s viability and testament

to the success of having a defined curriculum component

dealing with waste.

The dif ferent sites had dif ferent responsibil i t ies for

producing and marketing the education process. This

ranged from being entirely with the statutory body

(Newcastle, Wollongong and Eastern Creek), and a joint

arrangement with the Contractor (EWT at Port Stephens).

Of particular interest to this study was the Eastern Creek

facility, as this facility was constructed under a Build-Own-

Operate contract similar to that being considered by

Mindarie Regional Council. Of particular importance is the

similarity in responsibility for community education. 

As with Eastern Creek, MRC is considering an arrangement

where the Contractor may provide the education facility, but

the provision of staff and the actual education process itself

will be handled by MRC.  

An important difference between the proposed MRC facility

and the Eastern Creek Facility is, however, that the MRC has

existing member Councils rather than being in the position

of having to attract member Councils as with Waste

Services NSW. This should provide some continuity to the

message being promoted by MRC.

The enthusiasm of the staff was another factor noted during

the visit. While everyone interviewed was carrying out their

duties admirably, it was noted that the staff member at

Glengarry House was particularly enthusiastic and it was

felt that this had a significant positive impact on the Centre.

It was also noted that this staff member’s professional

background was not in waste or environmental sciences,

but rather in communications.

Conclusion

In conclusion, it was felt that the following points which

were raised in this visit should be considered by CEAG and

the MRC:

1) That community education can have definite benefits to

the resource recovery process and these benefits

should be able to be measured.

2) That the responsibility for the education process is best

left with the statutory authority, although the Contractor

should be encouraged to have an advocacy role.

3) That the staffing of the Centre should be appropriate to

its size and function and that a background in waste

management or environmental science is not

necessarily a key selection criteria.

4) That there may be an advocacy role for MRC in

conjunction with the Waste Management Board in the

promotion of a specific waste component within WA’s

school curriculum.
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Level of customer and stakeholder satisfaction

Most stakeholders are satisfied with services and facilities

offered at Tamala Park.  

As illustrated, 86% of landfill customers, 85% of transfer

station and recycling customers and 83% of staff members

are satisfied with Tamala Park’s services and facilities.   

Mindarie Regional Council is perceived to be performing

well in the following areas:

l Managing queuing times

l Weighbridge services

l Opening times

l Road conditions.

Areas for suggested improvement vary by stakeholder

group. While staff would like the MRC to focus on improving

the unloading area, landfill customers would like the focus

to be on reducing dust, odours and paperwork. 

Residential customers would like the focus to be on

improving the Recycling Centre, in particular the layout,

selection of goods available, and the prices of recycled

goods. Similar to landfill customers, residential customers

would also like reductions in dust and odours.

Level of staff satisfaction

Job satisfaction is high at Mindarie Regional Council.

Around 94% of staff members expressed satisfaction with

their jobs. Remaining respondents said they were neither

satisfied nor dissatisfied.

Staff members appear to appreciate the genuine interest

and concern management shows for their well-being; the

presence and encouragement of humour in the workplace;

job security; and how they relate with customers.  

To drive satisfaction levels higher, they would like the MRC

to focus on improving customer knowledge of sustainable

waste management practices. One in four staff members

are dissatisfied with this area. They find it upsetting to see

how much people throw away, and what they throw away.

They would like the MRC to better inform customers about

what can be recycled, why they need to sort and separate

hazardous items from their general waste, and why they

need to remove soil from green waste.  

Level of community awareness of MRC activities

Awareness of Mindarie Regional Council’s activities is high.

Every person surveyed had heard of Tamala Park and, as

illustrated, most customers are aware of the specific

services offered.

It seems that the most effective way to raise awareness of

the activities of Mindarie Regional Council is through the

combined use of signage and newsletters.

A review of performance with key stakeholders has

indicated that the MRC is performing well. It has also

highlighted a need for better waste education and waste

management services.  

In 2004, the Mindarie Regional Council engaged key

stakeholders in a research program to evaluate perceptions

of performance against four indicators outlined in its

strategic plan:

v Level of customer and stakeholder satisfaction

v Level of staff satisfaction

v Level of community awareness of MRC activities

v Level of community understanding with regard to waste

management

The 2004 Stakeholder Satisfaction Monitor, designed and

managed by research consultants CATALYSE Pty Ltd,

involved a series of interviews and focus group discussions.

This approach enabled the Council to seek constructive

feedback from over 460 staff members, customers and

local residents.

In addition to confirming the MRC’s strong performance, the

research provided insights into the needs of key

stakeholders. Of greatest significance, we learned that

stakeholders want the Council to do more to encourage

people to adopt sustainable waste management practices.

Local Residents, Customers and Staff
Show Us the Way forward

By Lisa Whitehead, Director, CATALYSE Pty Ltd
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With signage, even though only 5% of local residents

surveyed indicated that this is the most effective way to

communicate with them about activities at Tamala Park,

around 78% said they had noticed signage for Tamala Park

on Marmion Avenue.   This suggests that signage is an

excellent form of communication, especially for raising

awareness.   

Newsletters about activities at Tamala Park, which allow the

Council to communicate more detailed information, are

regarded by residents as the most effective means of

communication. The MRC has used this medium effectively,

with 55% of local residents recalling that they had received

a newsletter from the Mindarie Regional Council.

Level of community understanding with regard 

to waste management

While local residents appear to have a sound

understanding of sustainable waste management practices,

there is room for improvement.  

The following charts illustrate how people deal with

household waste. The green bars highlight behaviours we

need to change.  
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Encouragingly, 72% of local residents surveyed would

consider buying recycled goods. And, as illustrated in the

chart, the Recycling Centre at Tamala Park is a relatively

popular shopping destination.

Putting Insights into Practice

Recognising the value of these insights, the Mindarie

Regional Council has formed a working group to develop

and implement strategies to address concerns raised and to

act on opportunities identified.   

The working group contains a representative, cross-section

of staff members from across the organisation. They have

prioritised the following areas for attention:

l Improved community awareness and education

l Improved community understanding about the current

and future use of Tamala Park

l Improved recycling services

l Improved customer service levels

l Competitive pricing structures.

The working group will provide regular reports on their

performance to the Council. Key stakeholders will be

informed of progress through articles on the website and in

newsletters.  
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For a while there, it seemed as though the collective world

of the young speedway enthusiasts was about to come

crashing down around them.

It appeared likely there would be no survivors.

The youngsters initially had no where to turn when the

decision was made early last year to close the Bibra Lake

Speedway, where some 80 members of two junior

speedway sports clubs learnt their skills and frequently took

part in very friendly competitions. This was the only junior

motorcycle speedway track in WA.

Then, their parents, many others, and the Mindarie Regional

Council, came to the rescue.

The three motorcycle clubs, senior solos, senior sidecars

and juniors, amalgamated to form a new single identity,

Speedway Motorcycling WA, and began to seek help.

SMWA President Mr Bruce Russell led a group of

committed parents in search of another venue, and won the

support of the Wanneroo Junior Motocross Club, who

allowed them to use some suitable land on their facility in

Pederick Road, Neerabup.

“Thanks to them, we had somewhere to go,” Mr Russell

said. “Now all we needed was a lot more assistance – to

build a new track.”

The assistance came – from friends of the club who had

access to heavy earthmoving equipment, and others keen

to see the sport continue, they were able to level an area,

shape it into a suitably wide oval track of about 135 metres

total length, and construct pit stop areas.

Then came another Big Need: sufficient and suitable

limestone rubble to form the safe base for the track. 

“We sought the assistance of MRC Chief Executive Kevin

Poynton and, fortunately, he was very supportive and willing

to help,” Mr Russell said.  

So, over a couple of weekends, some fathers and family

friends drove their trucks to Tamala Park, where the vehicles

were loaded with some 800 tonnes of limestone rubble

which was delivered to the new track.

Now, there is a pristine new motorcycling speedway track in

Neerabup, comprising some 1200 cubic metres of

limestone, that will forever be a part of Tamala Park.

“Without the generosity of the MRC, and many others, we

would not be able to continue to promote the sport and

give these youngsters an opportunity to participate in an

activity they love,” Mr Russell said. 

Now, the young speedway motorcycling enthusiasts are

back on their bikes at Neerabup.

MRC in the Community
Get Back on Your Bikes, Kids!Get Back on Your Bikes, Kids!

Tamala Park Operations
Manager Mike Tolson returns
to his childhood trying out a
new playground provided at
the Recycling Centre to
entertain the kids while Mum
and Dad go shopping.



The Mindarie Regional Council is well advanced with its

plans to establish a Resource Recovery Facility in the

Neerabup Industrial Area.  

The RRF will be established over a number of stages and

will replace the Tamala Park landfill facility as the primary

means of dealing with the large quantities of household,

commercial and other similar wastes collected from Perth’s

northern suburbs.  

Currently, about 350,000 tonnes of this waste is generated

from a population of some 500,000 people and is buried

each year at Tamala Park. Most of this waste could be

turned to an alternative use if recovered and processed.

The MRC does not see this material as rubbish to be

buried but, rather, as a resource that can be used for better

purposes. 

Burying the rubbish is a waste, and a lost opportunity.

The first stage of the RRF is planned to process up to

100,000 tonnes of household waste each year, using a

biological treatment . The organic component of the

household waste will decompose within a controlled

environment to produce compost and possibly methane

gas, which can be used as a fuel.  

Packaging material such as metals and glass will be

recovered for recycling. Processing will occur within an

industrial building on a site on Pederick Road in the

Neerabup Industrial Area. 

The facility will be fully enclosed and will be built and

operated to comply with the highest environmental

standards.

Additional stages will be added to the facility in the future,

possibly using different types of technology.  

The development and operation of resource recovery

facilities in Australia is relatively new. The options available

to the MRC are, therefore, increasing and improving over

time. 

The MRC chose not to establish one large facility for all of

its waste in the first instance. This was to ensure that the

MRC did not put all of its ‘eggs in one basket’, and had the

opportunity to learn from its own experiences and the

experiences of others. Resource recovery facilities are

expensive and have a long life of up to 20 years. Once built,

it is not often feasible to undertake dramatic changes to the

facility.

The first stage of the RRF will be provided through what is

known as a Build Own Operate contract. Under this form of

contract, the contractor will design, build and fund the

facility on land provided by the MRC. 

The MRC has obtained environmental approvals for the

RRF and the contractor must provide a facility that meets

these environmental standards. 

The MRC will pay the contractor for processing its waste.

The contractor will have responsibility for manufacturing

and selling compost products and possibly energy, and for

selling the recyclables. The contract will be for a period of

20 years to coincide with the estimated economic life of the

facility.  

The MRC is keen for the RRF to enjoy strong community

support and be seen by the community to be an important

facility for improving the sustainability of our society. 

An extensive public participation process has been

undertaken to inform the community about the project and

to seek input into the key decisions affecting the

community.

A comprehensive site selection process was undertaken in

consultation with the community. This involved public

meetings, mail-outs of information, and community surveys.  

As a consequence, it was decided to locate the facility in

the Neerabup Industrial Area, which is in the early stages of

being developed and is destined to become the major

industrial area of Perth’s northern suburbs (the Canningvale

of the north).  

The Neerabup Industrial Area provides good separation

from current and future residential areas, while still being

relatively accessible for the delivery of waste.

Community input was instrumental in selecting the

Neerabup Industrial area over other sites, which were closer

to housing.  

The MRC has finalised the purchase of Lot 505, Pederick

Road, Neerabup.  This is a 20 ha site, half of which is

covered by bushland and will be protected as a Bush

Forever site. The landscaping of the remainder of the site

will integrate into the adjoining natural bushland.

More Steps Taken on the 
Road to Resource Recovery
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A Community Education Advisory Group (CEAG) was

established following the selection of the site for the facility

to advise the MRC on its community engagement process.  

CEAG comprises four members of the local community,

four members of the regional community and an

independent chairperson. CEAG has played an important

role in shaping the communication on the project between

the community and the MRC.  

One of the important initiatives of CEAG was to establish a

Community Partnership Agreement (CPA), which has been

developed with the community and formally adopted by the

MRC.  

The CPA identifies the key issues of concern to the

community and contains a range of undertakings made by

the MRC to address these issues.  

The CPA is an innovative approach to ensure that the

project achieves truly “triple bottom line” outcomes.

Traditionally, social aspects of projects have been less

formal than financial and environmental aspects. The MRC

has been prepared to formalise its commitments to the

community through the CPA on how the RRF will be

established and operated.  

The CPA will form part of the contract between the MRC

and the RRF contractor.

The type of waste treatment technology to be used in the

RRF is an issue of interest to the community. Extensive

information about the technology options was provided and

the community surveyed on their waste technology

preferences.  

As a consequence of the survey results, the MRC resolved

that it would not accept a proposal through the current

tender process based on thermal waste processing

technologies. Only biological processes, such as aerobic

composting and anaerobic digestion, will be considered.  

A Build Own Operate form of contract has been adopted for

the project as it is considered to provide the best model for

establishing and operating the RRF.  

The MRC considered the option of building and operating

its own RRF but is of the view that this is a specialised

manufacturing and sales activity with which the MRC has

no previous experience. It was considered that the facility

would be best operated by people with the experience and

expertise in these fields.  It was also considered that there

are advantages in having the one party responsible for

designing, building and operating the facility, to optimise the

whole-of-life costs of the project.  

The MRC is a regional local government and therefore

must comply with the tendering requirements of the Local

Government Act. 

These tendering requirements were not established to cater

for large complex contracts required for the RRF.  Some of

the tendering requirements have created considerable

challenges to the RRF project team in preparing the tender

package and the Build Own Operate contract.  

Consequently, the preparation of these documents has

been a long and complicated process. It has been

necessary to obtain legal and other expert advice on key

elements of the tender process and the contract, to ensure

that they comply with the legislative requirements and meet

the needs of the project.  

Due to the size and complexity of the contract, it has been

necessary to ensure that the Councillors of the MRC are

fully informed on the contract details. A series of briefings

and workshops were conducted for councillors to inform

them and gain their input into the tender package and

contract.  

The tender process commenced in  2001, when

Expressions of Interest were called from parties interested in

building and operating the RRF. It was necessary to call

Expressions of Interest to be able to gain the level of

detailed information needed for the MRC to obtain the

environmental approvals for the project. Seven companies

were short-listed and one has since withdrawn. 

Tenders were invited from the six short-listed companies

following finalisation of the tender package and contract in

October 2005. Tenders will close in January 2006. 

A comprehensive tender assessment methodology has

been prepared. The assessment of tenders wil l be

undertaken by a Tender Evaluation Committee, comprising

representatives of the MRC and the RRF Project Team. The

Tender Evaluation Committee will be supported by five

specialist sub-groups covering technical, social, economic,

environmental and legal issues.

It is anticipated that a tender assessment report will be

presented to the MRC at the end of the first quarter 2006,

and the facility will be in full operation by early 2008. 

It has been necessary to develop a number of innovative

solutions while preparing for the establishment of the RRF

within a local government environment.  

These have been in the form of community engagement

processes, contractual and legal matters, and tender

evaluation processes. A diverse project team led by the

Cardno BSD/Meinhardt Joint Venture has been assembled

to assist the MRC in developing this flagship facility.

 



A 10-member delegation from the Mindarie Regional

Council will conduct an intensive and extensive inspection

of resource recovery facilities similar to those being

proposed for its project in the Neerabup Industrial Area.The

delegation will inspect plants in the US, UK and Europe

during a three-week tour to be undertaken next February.

The facilities are operated by, or associated with, the six

short-listed companies invited to tender for the contract to

build, own and operate the first stage of the RRF in Pederick

Road, Neerabup. 

Those companies are Bedminster Australasia Pty Ltd,

Global Renewables Limited, Novera Energy Limited, Thiess

Services Pty Ltd, Total Energy Services Tasmania Pty Ltd,

and Worley Limited.

The companies have until January 19 2006 to present their

submissions. It is expected the successful tenderer will be

announced in March 2006. 

Construction of the facility is expected to take about a year

and be completed in late 2007, with the formal

commissioning of the plant by about March 2008.

The MRC currently manages the disposal of about 350,000

tonnes of waste each year generated by some 500,000

people living in the Cities of Joondalup, Perth, Stirling,

Wanneroo and the Towns of Cambridge, Victoria Park and

Vincent. Most of that waste is currently sent to landfill at the

MRC’s Tamala park facility.

The Resource Recovery Facility to be built at Neerabup is

expected to eventually reduce the amount of waste being

sent to landfill by up to 70 per cent. 

The delegation comprises the MRC’s Chairman Trevor

Clarey; Deputy Chairman Bruce Stevenson; the MRC’s

Secondary Waste Treatment Facil i ty Working Group

Chairman Cr Rod Willox; Cr John Stewart; MRC Chief

Executive Kevin Poynton; Project Director John King (from

Cardno BSD – Meinhardt, the joint venture consulting firm

appointed to manage the project on behalf of the MRC);

three technical officers responsible for waste management

issues in the MRC’s member councils; and tour coordinator

Sally Woods.

Due diligence

Mr Poynton said the tour would involve intensive study and

participation by the delegates, and would help satisfy the

due diligence requirements of a project of such magnitude,

with an estimated construction cost of about $100 million.

“As Councillors, officers or consultants of the MRC, we have

the responsibility and the obligation to undertake a robust

investigation of the facilities being sited by the tenderers to

confirm, or challenge, the information they provide as part of

the formal tender process,” Mr Poynton said. “That

information will comprise technical, social, environmental

and social elements.

“The delegation will also meet with the tenderers’ clients,

community representatives, and officers from government

agencies.

“The composition of the delegation is well balanced,

comprising elected Local Government Council lors,

professional independent consultants, and technical

experts. 

“Many members of the delegation have been intimately

involved in the project’s planning and development, which

began in 2001,” Mr Poynton said.

At the MRC meeting on October 27, considerable

discussion took place on the costs of the tour, which would

be met from public funds, and the need to minimise

expenses. The Council agreed that, where practical, the

delegation would travel economy class. 

Delegation appointed to Inspect RRFs
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Artist’s impression of the layout of a Resource Recovery Facility.

 



Steps toward reducing the amount of waste sent to landfill

by up to 70 per cent and converting it into high-quality

compost and possibly ‘green’ energy reached a major

milestone on October 19 when the Mindarie Regional

Council approved the release of tender documents for the

first stage of its Resource Recovery Facility.

A special meeting of the MRC agreed to release the

documents to six previously identified and short-listed

companies, inviting them to submit by January 19 next year

their proposals to build, own and operate the plant in the

Neerabup Industrial Area.

The companies are Bedminster Australasia Pty Ltd, Global

Renewables Limited, Novera Energy Limited, Thiess

Services Pty Ltd, Total Energy Services Tasmania Pty Ltd,

and Worley Limited.

It is expected the successful tenderer will be announced

next March. 

Construction of the facility is expected to take about a year

and be completed in late 2007, with the formal

commissioning of the plant by about March 2008.

The Council’s approval of the tender documents follows an

extended period of discussions and negotiations between

the MRC’s project manager (Cardno BSD-Meinhardt), legal

and financial consultants, and representatives from the

short-listed companies. 

“While it took some extra time to finalise the content of the

tender documents, this was a most valuable exercise for all

parties involved,” said project director Mr John King. 

“After preparing a draft tender document, we wanted to

seek comments and feedback from the short-l isted

companies. We then needed to clarify several points and

respond to other issues, so that everyone would be more

certain about what was wanted and what could be

expected.

“Hopefully, that will mean the entire process flows smoothly

from now on.”

Mr King said that inspections of some of the facilities

operated by the tenderers were integral to a thorough

evaluation process, and would begin short ly after

submissions were received. 

The review of the facilities would be undertaken by a panel

comprising some MRC Councillors and officers, the project

manager, and technical experts from some of the MRC’s

seven member Councils.

“It’s vitally important that the MRC’s representatives and

decision-makers inspect first-hand the various facilities, to

assure themselves, or otherwise, that what the tenderers

present in terms of their technological capabilities and

credentials with the facilities they operate elsewhere is

accurate, eff icient , effective, and transferable to the

Neerabup site,” he said.

The MRC will also establish separate expert panels to

evaluate and assess the tenderers’ submissions in relation

to technical, environmental, economic, social and legal

criteria.

The tender documents include the Community Partnership

Agreement , an init iat ive f lowing from an extensive

community engagement and consultation process the

MRC began in August 2002, which the Environmental

Protection Authority later commended in its review of the

project’s Public Environmental Report.

The CPA identifies 20 different objectives and 66 associated

outcomes that the MRC believes the community wants the

project to deliver.

The Mindarie Regional Council is WA’s biggest waste

management authority, responsible for the efficient disposal

of some 350,000 tonnes of waste generated each year by

about 500,000 people living in the Cities of Joondalup,

Perth, Stirling, Wanneroo, and the Towns of Cambridge,

Victoria Park, and Vincent.

Most of that waste is sent to landfill at a state-of-the-art

facility the MRC owns and operates at Tamala Park, about

35km north of Perth.

Since 2001, the MRC has been progressing plans to

establish its first Resource Recovery Facility in the region,

and has purchased a 10ha property in the Neerabup

Industrial Area, about 45km north of Perth, for that purpose.

The MRC last year decided that only technologies

associated with biological processes would be considered

for the Resource Recovery Facility. The end-product will be

high quality compost and/or ‘green’ energy.

The first stage of the proposed three-stage facility is

expected to treat up to 100,000 tonnes of waste a year. 

MRC Releases Tender Documents
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OPERATING REVENUES

The financial operations of Mindarie Regional Council have been subject to annual audit and the report from the appointed Auditor Leanne

Karamfiles of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is attached as an appendix to this annual report.

The financial statements included in this report display a sound position and should be read in conjunction with the accounting precepts

adopted by the Regional Council. Significant precepts include the provision of capital from within the operations of the enterprise or loan funds

where necessary. 

Revenues from the weighbridge charges (excluding recyclables) totalled $$1111,,223355,,110055 that reflects an increase of 4466..4488%% over the previous

period.  

This is in the main due to increase in member and non-member fees to reflect the actual cost of tipping. Interest on invested funds was

$$112299,,113333 which represents a  decrease on the previous period of 5500..9955%%.  The decrease in amount of interest received was primarily due to

the Council’s decrease in cash backed provisions which were utilised for rehabilitation of phase one (stage 2) landfill and assets acquisitions.

In accordance with the accounting precepts and approved by the Council at their meeting of 18th August 2005, the operational surplus of

$$11,,221133,,111133 will be retained by MRC to meet their on going operational and capital requirements in 2005/06.

RESERVES

The only Reserve under the Local government (Financial Management) Regulations 1966 Section 27 (g) as at 30th June 2005  is as follows:

Site Monitoring Reserve

Opening Balance $138,269

Transfer from Accumulated Surplus 0

Transfer to Accumulated Surplus 0

$138,269

Financial Management
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Aerial photograph showing the site for the Resource Recovery Facility in the Neerabup Industrial Area. At bottom left of the image is
the racing track for the Wanneroo Junior Motorcross Club, which was formed with limestone provided as a community service by the

MRC (see article “Get back on your bikes, kids!” on page 25).

  



OPERATING EXPENSES

The financial concept of full costing including depreciation of assets and allowances for future liabilities together with lease fee was accounted

against the operations and resulted in an operational expenditure of $10,596,227.  This was an increase of 42.38% over last year. 

The expenditure generally has gone up in line with the higher level of activities reflected in the increased revenue.  The main area of increases

are:

v

       

Clay liner (stage 2) - $1,283,778

A liner was not utilised in stage 1 of the excavation.

v

  

Higher amortisation cost - $806,978.

The higher activities have accelerated the use of ‘air space’ which accounts for the increase in the amortisation cost.

v

  

Rehabilitation and monitoring cost - $202,398.

This is due to a higher provision in view of the increased activities which reduces the life of the landfill. 

v

  

Plant, vehicles and travel cost $354,323. 

This is mainly due to hire of additional equipment to support the higher activities.

The comparison to previous years operating expenses is shown in the table below.

$ per Tonne

ITEM 2004/2005 2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002 2000/2001

Direct Operational Costs 15.62 14.50 13.26 9.14 8.34

Transfers to Reserves(Provisions) 2.42 1.84 0.61 0.56 0.70

Transfer to stage two excavation provision 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5.00

Amortisation of Accommodation 3.42 1.01 1.25 1.14 1.32

DEP Landfill Levy 2.96 2.94 2.96 2.90 2.86

Interest on Loans 0.95 0.10 0.00 0.00 0.00

Depreciation 2.07 1.79 1.77 1.61 1.33

Land Lease Fee 0.50 0.47 0.59 0.47 0.60

Total 27.93 22.65 20.44 15.82 20.15

Plant Operation (included above
Excluding depreciation) 1.17 1.17 1.18 0.94 1.12

Note:

1. The decrease in cost/tonne of  $4.33 (21.49%) under 2001/2002 was due primarily to a decrease in Stage 2 provisioning from $5.00 per

tonne to $nil per tonne.

2. As mentioned above the expenditure has increased in line with the higher level of activities reflected in higher revenue for the year.  The

main increases are related to clay liner, amortisation, rehabilitation and monitoring cost.
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DISPOSAL FEES AND CHARGES

Disposal fees and charges, for 2004/2005, are shown in the table below, as dollars per tonne, unless otherwise indicated.

Item 2004/2005
(includes GST)

1. Member Local Governments
- General Waste 30.80
- Inert Material Not applicable
- Asbestos 71.50
- Greenwaste (uncontaminated) 28.60
- Bales 11.00

2. (a) General Entry - General Waste 57.00

Minimum charge for entry to site
- Utilities, Vans, Trailers, Trucks etc 6.00
- Cars, Station Wagons 6.00

(b) Swill or Semi Liquid Waste Not accepted

(c) In the event of weighbridge unavailability
the following fees shall apply to (a) above

Non compacted waste 
Trailer 1.8m x 1.2m or less 17.10
Trailer larger than 1.8m x 1.2m per wheel 17.10

Compacted waste
All vehicles per wheel - truck or trailer 32.80

(d) Asbestos - whole loads 110.00

3. Special Burials (Supervised)
At the discretion of the Site Controller in addition
to the tonnage rates $130.30

4. Special Commercial Items
In lieu of 1 and 2 above the following apply:

(a) Motor bodies and old machinery each item 25.00
(b) Animal carcasses

(i) Small domestic animals 6.00
(ii) Large animals (Sheep and cattle etc.) 13.00

(c) Tyres (Maximum disposal 4) 15.00
Per tonne sliced 110.00

(d) Safe sharp containers
(i) 7 litre or less each 13.00
(ii) Over 7 litres per litre 1.30

(e) Light weight bulk material less 300 kg 
per cubic metre 15.60

(f) Uncontaminated Greenwaste per tonne
Minimum charge (one tonne equivalent) 39.50
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TONNAGES

The amount of waste received for disposal to landfill at Tamala Park, over the period since commencement of operations, is tabulated below:

RECEIVALS TONNES

25 Feb 1991 - 31 May 1991 19,520

1 June 1991 - 30 June 1991 13,471

1 July 1991 - 28 June 1992 150,487

29 June 1992 - 27 June 1993 156,024

28 June 1993 - 26 June 1994 151,945

27 June 1994 - 30 June 1995 163,818

1 July 1995 - 30 June 1996 179,006

1 July 1996 - 30 June 1997 186,875

1 July 1997 - 30 June 1998 225,620

1 July 1998 - 30 June 1999 249,114

1 July 1999 - 30 June 2000 336,502

1 July 2000 - 30 June 2001 339,285

1 July 2001 - 30 June 2002 331,576

1 July 2002 - 30 June 2003 319,756

1 July 2003 - 30 June 2004 328,655

1 July 2004-30 June 2005 333,437

Total 3,485,091

LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMPARISONS

The amount of waste received for disposal to landfill at Tamala Park, by customer, for 2004/2005 (with a comparison to 2003/2004) is tabulated

below:

2004/2005 2003/2004 Variance

%

City of Perth 14,793 14,097 696 4.94

City of Wanneroo 65,381 62,002 3,379 5.45

City of Joondalup 69,351 70,234 (883) (0.01)

Town of Cambridge 12,551 10,902 1649 15.13

Town of Vincent 13,041 12,910 131 1.01

Town of Victoria Park 13,002 13,245 (243) (0.02)

City of Stirling 64,578 60,469 4,109 6.80

Total Members 252,697 243,859 8,838 3.62

City of South Perth 13,263 18,555 (5292) (28.5)

Other Casuals 42,598 40,777 1,821 4.47

Total Casuals 55,861 59,332 (3471) (5.85)

308,558 303,191 5,367 1.77

City of Stirling – Inert Bales 24,879 25,464 (585) (2.30)

Grand Total 333,437 328,655 4,782 1.46

MINDARIE REGIONAL COUNCIL u

               

ANNUAL REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 u

  

Page 33

 



PLANT

The status of key items of plant held by the Council, as at 30 June 2005, is tabulated below:

REGN PURCHASED

Caterpillar 12G Motorised Grader 9LO775 Nov-99 Second Hand

Tana Compactor 40 tonne 1BNS433 Apr-04 New

Caterpillar 826G Compactor 1AYF836 Jun 01 New

Caterpillar 966G Front End Loader 1BBN347 Jan-02 New

Caterpillar 950G Front End Loader 1BBN338 Jan-02 New

Inter Water Truck 1AHW218 Aug-98 New

Skid Steer Loader - Bobcat PN 18.72 Nov-03 New

Mitsubishi Triton Duel Cab 4 WD Utility 1BAF469 Oct-01 New

Fire Fighting Vehicle-Nissan 4WD 1BLL079 Oct-03 Second Hand

Toyota Hilux 1 Tonne Utility 1BAG199 Oct-01 New

Ford Fairmont Ghia 1BKY809 Aug-03 New

Santa Fe 4WD Wagon 1BAF572 Oct-01 New

Articulated Dump Truck AH300D Jan-05 New

CAT Skid Steer Loader 1BZP635 Jun-05 New

HINO Bin Truck 1BTN433 Sep-04 New

STAFF ESTABLISHMENT

The staff establishment for the Council, as at 30 June 2005, is tabulated below:

POSITION FULL TIME PART TIME TOTAL

Chief Executive Officer 1 1

Manager Corporate Services 1 1

Finance Officer 1 1

Corporate Services Systems Administrator 1 1

Administration Assistant 1 1

Manager Operations 1 1

Weighbridge Attendant 1 1

Deputy Operations Manager/Plant Fitter 1 1

Safety Officer 1 1

Plant Operators 5 5

Recycling Attendants 4 1 5

Transfer Station Attendant 4 1 5

22 2 24
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STATEMENT BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The attached financial report of the Mindarie Regional Council being the annual financial report and supporting notes and other information for

the financial year ended 30 June 2005 are in my opinion properly drawn up to present fairly the financial position of the Mindarie Regional

Council at 30 June 2005 and the results of its operations for the financial year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards

(except to the extent that these have been varied in the Statement of Accounting Policies required by Australian Accounting Standard AAS 6

“Accounting Policies” and the accompanying  notes to the annual financial report) and comply with the provisions of the Local Government Act

1995 and the regulations under that Act.

Kevin F Poynton

Chief Executive Officer

29th November 2005
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MRC Officers and FESA personnel discuss safety and emergency services procedures during an exercise at Tamala Park.
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Actual  Budget Actual 

Note 2004/2005 2004/2005 2004/2005

REVENUES $ $

User Charges

-  Perth City Council 497,170 383,600 288,397

- Joondalup City Council 2,332,082 1,876,000 1,365,708

- Wanneroo City Council 2,138,404 1,814,400 1,363,567

- Cambridge Town Council 410,339 305,200 222,834

- Vincent Town Council 438,254 363,272 264,091

- Victoria Park Town Council 437,158 400,400 270,437

- Stirling City Council 2,485,232 2,014,000 1,386,066

- South Perth City Council 356,402 592,040 560,351

- Recyclables 300,940 200,000 224,853

- Casual 2,140,064 1,985,455 1,947,581

11,536,045 9,934,367 7,893,885

Interest 129,133 92,000 263,263

Grants 43,764 15,000 44,801

Reimbursements/Contributions/Rebates/Rental 84,989 6,400 52,823

Total Operating Revenues 11,793,931 10,047,767 8,254,772

EEXXPPEENNSSEESS

Employee Costs 2,009,088 1,887,090 1,690,777

DEP Landfill Levy 987,553 988,042 965,292

Excavation Amortised 1,139,492 664,868 332,514

Depreciation 2 690,966 723,468 587,200

Rehab/Site Monitoring/Stage 2 Provisions 806,755 581,043 604,357

Clay Liner 1,283,778 830,000 0 

Land Lease Rental 165,127 168,700 153,195

Materials/Contracts 357,483 688,500 790,624

Contracted Labour 184,596 295,200 401,161

Office Expenses 598,740 430,420 262,554

Consultants 333,833 259,000 301,146

Plant, Vehicles and Travel 1,441,875 565,070 1,087,552

Interest on Loan Repayments 315,231 390,670 33,175

Other 281,710 238,053 232,502

Total Operating Expenses 10,596,227 8,710,124 7,442,049

SSUUBB TTOOTTAALL 1,197,704 1,337,643 812,723

Net Gain on Disposal of Assets 20 15,409 18,620 42,505

Change in Net Assets resulting from Operations 1,213,113 1,356,263 855,228

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements are on pages 41 to 52

Operating Statement by Nature
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005
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Note 2004/2005 2003/2004

$ $
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash Assets 3 719,610 376,174

Investments 3 1,607,102 3,110,389

Receivables 5 3,079,984 1,167,205

Inventories 6 14,245 16,185

Other Current assets 7 10,352 8,946

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 5,431,293 4,678,899

CCUURRRREENNTT LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS

Payables 10 1,159,306 2,258,600

Provisions 12 332,520 249,156

Interest Bearing Liabilities 17 1,494,216 734,405

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,986,043 3,242,161

NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,445,251 1,436,738

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Excavation works 8 8,146,970 8,518,213

Property, Plant and Equipment 9 4,224,208 3,245,255

Resource Recovery Facility 650,313 0

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 13,021,491 11,763,468

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred Liability 11 855,229 855,229

Interest Bearing Liabilities 17 5,585,523 3,305,371

Provisions 12 1,312,744 2,539,474

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,753,496 6,700,074

NET ASSETS 7,713,246 6,500,133

EQUITY

Accumulated Surplus 5,929,251 4,716,138

Reserves 13 138,269 138,269

Capital Contribution by

Constituent Councils 18 1,645,726 1,645,726

TOTAL EQUITY 7,713,246 6,500,133

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements are on pages 41 to 52

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2005
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Note 2004/2005 2003/2004

$ $

RESERVES - CASH BACKED

Balance at the Beginning of the Year 138,269 2,721,522

Amount transferred from/(to) Accumulated Surplus - (2,583,253)

Balance at End of Year 3 138,269 138,269

RESERVES - NON CASH BACKED

Balance at the Beginning of the Year - -

Amount transferred from/(to) Accumulated Surplus - -

Balance at End of Year - -

RESERVES - TOTAL 13 138,269 138,269

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Balance at the Beginning of the Year 4,716,138 2,132,885

Changes in Net Assets Resulting from Operations 1,213,113 855,229

Transfers From (to) Reserves - 2,583,253

Distribution to members - (855,229)

Balance at End of Year 5,929,251 4,716,138

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements are on pages 41 to 52

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005
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Items delivered to the Domestic Waste Transfer Station at Tamala Park are sorted prior to their final disposal. Many items can be recycled.
Some paint, for example, is being treated and recycled as part of the PaintBack program. 

  



$ $
Notes Actual Budget Actual

2004/2005 2004/2005 2003/2004

Inflows Inflows Inflows

(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

User Charges 9,623,266 10,201,572 7,499,853

Reimbursements 84,989 6,400 52,823

Grants 43,764 15,000 44,801

Goods and Services Tax 1,239,965 1,798,310 1,167,207

Interest 128,577 93,355 282,046

Total Receipts 11,120,561 12,114,637 9,046,730

Payments

Labour Costs (2,015,021) (1,919,015) (1,643,761)

Office Expenses/Consultants (950,848) (704,297) (518,650)

Vehicle & Plant Operating  Costs (1,330,180) (565,070) (1,087,552)

Materials, Contracts and Suppliers (282,290) (1,092,745) (1,368,380)

Clay Liner (1,098,783) (830,000) 0 

Landfill Levy (982,738) (1,217,651) (735,683)

Land Lease (165,127) (168,700) (153,195)

Interest on Loan Repayments (274,097) (390,670) 0 

Other (275,787) (238,053) (231,325)

Goods and Services Tax (1,208,267) (1,585,154) (1,278,581)

Total Payments (8,583,138) (8,711,355) (7,017,127)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 16 2,537,423 3,403,282 2,029,603

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of assets 15,409 52,700 313,182

Total Receipts 15,409 52,700 313,182

Payments

Purchase of Plant and Equipment (540,703) (784,500) (811,615)

Purchase of Buildings and Landscaping (936,160) (963,000) (186,410)

Purchase of Stage 1 Excavation Final Capping (2,044,474) (2,362,791) (896,683)

Purchase of Stage 2 Excavation Works (2,434,338) (2,656,091) (6,328,667)

Purchase of Land SWTF (611,408) (3,503,998) (192,610)

Purchase of Infrastructure for SWTF (25,517) (1,648,000) 0

Purchase of Furniture & Equipment (49,822) (39,500) (12,122)

Total Payments (6,642,422) (11,957,880) (8,428,107)

Net Cash (used in) Investing Activities (6,627,013) (11,905,180) (8,114,925)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Proceeds from Borrowings Landfill Operations 2,000,000 2,000,000 4,150,000

Proceeds from Borrowings RRRF 2,000,000 5,500,000 0 

Total Receipts 4,000,000 7,500,000 4,150,000

Payments

Repayment of Loan Principal (1,070,261) (1,176,486 0 

Constituent Council's Rebates - - (1,400,137)

Total Payments (1,070,261) (1,176,486) (1,400,137)

Net Cash from (used in) Financing Activities 2,929,739  6,323,514 2,749,863 

Net increase (decrease) in Cash Held (1,159,851) (2,178,384) (3,335,459)

Cash at Beginning of the Financial Year 3,486,563 3,486,566 6,822,022

Cash at the End of the Financial Year 15 2,326,712 1,308,182 3,486,563

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements are on pages 41 to 52

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Framework

These general purpose financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues

Group Consensus Views, and the Local Government Act 1995 and the regulations under that Act. They have been prepared on an accrual

basis.

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and except where stated, does not take into account changing

money values or current valuations of non-current assets.  Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for

assets.

Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of

relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Accounts Payable

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the council becomes obliged to make future payments resulting

from the purchase of goods and services.

(b) Acquisition of Assets

Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration determined as at the date of acquisition

plus costs incidental to the acquisition.

In the event that settlement of all or part of the cash consideration given in the acquisition of an asset is deferred, the fair value of the

purchase consideration is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of

acquisition.

(c) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land.  Depreciation is calculated

on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life. The following

estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Buildings 20 years

Plant and Vehicles 6 2/3 years

Furniture and Equipment  5 years

Roads, Landscaping, Fences, Walls 20 years

and Security Lighting

(d) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and sick

leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. Under the Mindarie

Regional Council Enterprise Agreement of 2002 employees are paid on termination an amount for unused sick leave based on a

graduated entitlement defined in the agreement.

Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, and other employee benefits expected to be settled within

12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of other employee benefits (long service leave) which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are

measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the council in respect of services provided by

employees up to reporting date.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005
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(e) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of

acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST component of cash flows arising from investing

and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

(g) Leased Assets

Leased assets classified as finance leases are recognised as assets.  The amount initially brought to account is the present value of

minimum lease payments.

A finance lease is one which effectively transfers from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to

ownership of the leased property.

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Finance lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of lease liability over the term of the lease.  The interest

expense is determined by applying the interest rate implicit in the lease to the outstanding lease liability at the beginning of each

lease payment period.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a basis which reflects the pattern in which economic benefits from the

leased asset are consumed.

(h) Principles of Reporting

The financial statements are prepared on the basis of a single consolidated fund (Municipal Fund).

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the council has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the

amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the

receivable is recognised as an asset if it is probable that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured

reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting

date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Distributions to Members

A provision is recognised for distributions to members when they have been determined by the Council.

(j) Receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts.

(k) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets

Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non-current asset exceeds recoverable

amount.  In determining the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the expected net cash flows have been discounted to their

present value.
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(l) Restoration, Rehabilitation and Monitoring Costs

The Council complies with the full provision method of accounting for restoration, rehabilitation and site monitoring costs.  Charges are

made to expenses based on the estimated costs of restoring, rehabilitating and monitoring the Tamala Park site. The rate charged is

reviewed annually and is based upon a standard engineering cost per cubic metre of landfill, and the latest resources calculation.

Engineering rates differ according to the nature of the obligation to provide the service.

(m) Superannuation

In line with Superannuation Guarantee Statutory requirements the Council contributes a mandatory 9% contribution of the normal

salary of employees, for qualifying employees, to the WA Local Government Superannuation Plan (WALGSP).  In addition to this,

Council matches contributions made by employees to this fund or their nominated superannuation fund, up to 7%.

(n) Revenue Recognition

Waste Service Charge

Revenue from waste services is recognised on receipt of waste.

Disposal of Assets

Revenue from the disposal of assets is recognised when the Council has passed control of the goods or other assets to the buyer.

Rendering of Services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Contributions of Assets

Grants, donations and other contributions are recognised as revenues when the Council obtains control over the assets comprising

the contributions.

Where conditional contributions are received in advance and therefore recognised as revenues in that accounting period and the

conditions on which those funds are to be expended are undischarged at the reporting date, the nature of the amounts pertaining to

those undischarged conditions are disclosed in notes to the financial statements.

Contributions received in advance and subject to undischarged conditions are classified as "Restricted Assets" and reported

separately in the notes accompanying the financial statements.  These notes also disclose the amount of the contributions

recognised as revenues in a previous reporting period that were obtained in respect of the Council's operations for the current

reporting period.
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The Recycling Centre at Tamala Park, with the new children’s playground in the foreground.

 



2. OPERATING REVENUE AND EXPENSES
2004/2005 2003/2004

$ $

(a) The change in net assets resulting from operations

was arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following items:

Depreciation

Buildings 156,831 91,850

Furniture & Equipment 39,357 37,523

Plant and Vehicles 434,919 405,530

Roads , Landscaping, Fences, Walls and Security Lighting 59,859 52,297

690,966 587,200

(b) OPERATING REVENUES

Governance 6,237 969

Housing 0 413

Community Amenities 11,741,943 8,248,595

Other Property Services 61,159 47,299

Total Operating Revenue 11,809,339 8,297,276

EXPENSES

Governance 1,326,384 1,468,318

Housing 5,376 0 

Community Amenities 9,256,844 5,943,983

Other Property Services 7,623 29,747

Total Operating Expenses 10,596,227 7,442,048

(c) Assets Classified By Function and Activity

Governance 1,372,353 948,176

Community Amenities 17,080,431 15,494,192

18,452,784 16,442,368

2004/2005 2003/2004

$ $

3. CASH & INVESTMENTS   

(i)  Current Cash Investments Total Cash Investments Total

Restricted 8,530 1,479,426 1,487,956 376,174 3,110,389 3,486,563

Unrestrict 711,080 127,676 838,756 0 (0) -

719,610 1,607,102 2,326,712 376,174 3,110,389 3,486,563

The following restrictions have been imposed by regulations or internal funding requirements :

Reserves Cash Backed Total Reserves Cash Backed Total

Provisions Provisions

Site Rehabilitation                         -   -   -   -       591,909 591,909

Site Monitoring 138,269 -   138,269 138,269 428,663 566,932 

Asset Replacement                      -   -   -   -    1,835,842 1,835,842 

138,269 -   138,269 138,269 2,856,414 2,994,683 

Unspent loan funds -    1,349,687 1,349,687 - 491,880 -

138,269 1,349,687 1,487,956 138,269 3,348,294 3,486,563

(ii) Earnings on Investments 2004/2005 2003/2004

Actual Actual

Municipal 129,133 263,263     

129,133 263,263
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2004/2005 2003/2004

4. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Auditing the Financial Report 13,750 8,420

5.. RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade Debtors 3,079,984 1,167,205 

Provision for Doubtful Debt 0 0

3,079,984 1,167,205

6. INVENTORIES

Fuel - Cost 14,245 16,185

7. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid  Expenses 8,441 7,591

Accrued income 1,911 1,355

10,352 8,946

8. EXCAVATION WORKS

Non Current

Total Cost of Stage One Excavation 143,944 4,606,103

Less Accumulated Amortisation (143,944) (4,462,159)

0 143,944

Total Cost of Stage Two Excavation 9,142,518 8,374,271

Less Accumulated Amortisation (995,548) 0

8,146,970 8,374,271

Total Stage One and Two Excavations remaining to amortise 8,146,970 8,518,215

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixed Assets at Cost Buildings Furniture Plant and Other Plant Infrastructure Land Total
and Fittings Vehicles and Equipment Assets

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 30 June 2004 1,542,399 294,453 2,607,212 451,467 849,951 196,609 5,942,091

Additions 852,270 49,821 598,064 30,351 85,256 21,519 1,637,281

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2005 2,394,669 344,274 3,205,276 481,818 935,207 218,128 7,579 ,372

Accumulated Depreciation/Amortisation

Balance at 30 June 2004 (710,735) (208,717) (884,321) (327,944) (565,120) 0 (2,696,837)

Depreciation Expense (156,830) (39,358) (406,136) (28,783) (59,860) 0 (690,967)

Disposals 0 0 32,640 0 0 0 32,640

Balance at 30 June 2005 (867,565) (248,075) (1,257,817) (356,727) (624,980) 0 (3,355,164)

Net Book Value

As At 30 June 2004 831,664 85,736 1,722,891 123,523 284,831 196,609 3,245,254

As At 30 June 2005 1,527,104 96,199 1,947,459 125,091 310,227 218,128 4,224,208

Aggregate depreciation allocated during the year is recognised as an expense during the year: 2004/05 2003/04

Buildings 156,830 91,850

Furniture and Fittings 39,358 37,523

Plant and Vehicles 406,136 378,680

Other Plant and Equipment 28,783 26,850

Infrastructure Assets 59,860 52,297

690,967 587,200
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2004/2005 2003/2004

$ $

10. PAYABLES

Current

Accrued Expenses 993,203 2,301,724

PAYG 34,591 0

Goods and Service tax 131,512 -43,124

Current rebate due to Member Councils 0 0

1,159,306 2,258,600

11. DEFERRED LIABILITY

Member Councils

City of Perth 94,121 94,121

City of Stirling 345,134 345,134

City of Wanneroo 71,961 71,961

Town of Victoria Park 97,052 97,052

Town of Cambridge 105,110 105,110

Town of Vincent 98,204 98,204

City ofJoondalup 43,647 43,647

855,229 855,229

12. PROVISIONS

Current

Provisions for Long Service Leave (i) 138,716 83,523

Provisions for Annual Leave & Sick Leave (i) 193,804 165,633

332,520 249,156

Non Current

Provision for Site Monitoring (ii) 581,916 569,293

Provision for Site Rehabilitation (ii) 708,935 1,924,030

Provisions for Long Service Leave (i) 21,893 46,151

1,312,744 2,539,474

(i) Employee Benefits

Current (note 9) 332,520 249,156

Non-current (note 9) 21,893 46,151

354,413 295,307

Number of employees at end of Financial Year 24 24

(ii) Other Provisions Monitoring Rehabilitation

Balance at 30 June 2004 569,293 1,924,030

Additional Provisions Recognised 12,623 794,132

Reductions arising from Payments 0   (2,009,223)

Balance at 30 June 2005 581,916 708,935

13. RESERVES

As at 30 June 2005 the only Reserve, maintained by Mindarie Regional

Council, under the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations

1966 Section 27 (g) is as follows:

Site Monitoring Reserve

Opening Balance 138,269 138,269 

Transfer from Accumulated Surplus -   -   

Transfer to Accumulated Surplus -   -   

138,269 138,269 
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14. SUPERANNUATION

The Local Government Act requires Local Governments to provide superannuation for their employees through the WA Local Government

Superannuation Plan (WALGSP).

The Council also contributes to the WALGSP for qualifying employees as per Superannuation Guarantee statutory requirements an

amount of 9% of normal salary.

The amount of superannuation contributions paid by the Regional Council to the WALGSP during the reporting period was $192,990

(2003/2004: $136,580) and as salary sacrifice $37,600 (2003/2004: $14,558).

The amount of superannuation paid by the Regional Council to other superannuation funds during the reporting period was $0

(2003/2004: $0) and as salary sacrifice $6,096 (2003/2004: $5,918).

15. RECONCILIATION OF CASH

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, Regional Council considers cash to include cash on hand and in banks and

investments.  Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the statement of financial position as follows:

2004/2005 2003/2004

$ $

Cash at Bank 719,610 376,174

Investments 1,607,102 3,110,389

2,326,712 3,486,563  

* $1,349,682 is committed to the Resource Recovery Facility project.

16. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH provided by

Operating Activities to Operating Surplus 

for the year ended 30 June.

Changes in Net Assets Resulting

From Operations 1,213,113 855,228 

Add Back

Increase in Rebate Payable -   -   

Excavation Amortised 1,139,492 332,514 

Depreciation 690,966 587,200 

Increase Provisions

- Site Monitoring / Site Rehabilitation 806,755 604,357 

- Annual / Sick / Long Service Leave 24,483 122,390 

Increase in Accrued Expenses 588,988 140,677 

Decrease in Fuel Stocks 1,940 -   

Net GST Adjustment 31,698 -   

Decrease in Accrued Interest - 18,783 

4,497,435 2,661,149 

Deduct

Increase Prepaid Expenses 850 -   

Increase Employee costs 30,418 75,374 

Increase in Debtors 1,912,779 394,032 

Increase in Accrued Interest 556 -   

Increase in Fuel Stocks -   8,260 

Net GST Adjustment -   111,374 

Profit on Sale of Assets 15,409 42,506 

Net Cash Provided by (used in) Operating Activities 2,537,423 2,029,603 

17. LOAN FACILITIES

Current 1,494,216 734,405

Non Current 5,585,523 3,305,371

Total 7,079,739 4,039,776

Loan Funds committed but not spent - placed on fixed deposit 1,349,687 491,880

               



18. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION BY CONSTITUENT COUNCILS Balance Balance

30 June 2005 30 June 2004

City of Joondalup 274,288 274,288

City of Wanneroo 274,288 274,288

City of Stirling 548,576 548,576

City of Perth 246,952 246,952

Town of Vincent 100,541 100,541

Town of Cambridge 100,541 100,541

Town of Victoria Park 100,541 100,541

1,645,726 1,645,726

19. PAYMENTS TO COUNCILLORS 2004/2005                                            2003/2004

The following payments to Councillors were made during 2004/2005:

Sitting Fees 20,001 20,150 

Chairman's Entertainment Allowance 500 500 

Members Travelling 5,385 4,013

25,886 24,663

20. DISPOSAL OF ASSETS BY PROGRAM $ $ $
ACTUAL 2004/2005 Net Book Value Sale Price Profit (Loss)

on Sale

Governance - - -

Community Amenities - 15,409 15,409

- 15,409 15,409

BUDGET PROGRAM 2004/2005

Governance -   -   -   

Community Amenities 34,080 52,700 18,620

34,080 52,700 18,620

Detail of Asset Disposal Purchase Cummulative Written Sale/Trade in Profit/(loss)
Price Depreciation down Value In

Item
Mercedes Benz Water Truck
7GO252 $32,640 $32,640  $0 $10,909 $10,909 
Rock Bucket $0 $0 $0 $4,500 $4,500 
TOTAL $32,640 $32,640 $0 $15,409 $15,409 

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and

the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity

instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the Financial Statements.

(a) Net Fair Value

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their respective net fair

values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 1 to the accounts.

(b) Interest Rate Risk

Minimal interest rate risk exists with cash and investments.  The bank accounts are business management accounts that have

variable interest rates based on a tiered structure depending on account balances.  The interest rate applicable at 30 June 2005 for

each account was as follows:

General Bank Account 4.00%

Reserve Bank Account 0.01%

The average interest rate applicable on term deposit investments for the financial year 2004/2005 was 5.02%.

The average interest rate applicable on loan liabilities for the financial year 2004/2005 was 6.13%

There is no other interest rate risk attached to other financial assets or liabilities as they are not interest bearing.

MINDARIE REGIONAL COUNCIL u

                   

ANNUAL REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 u

  

Page 48

 



(c) Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Council.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any losses, represents the Council’s maximum

exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained.

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

A claim has been made against Mindarie Regional Council, by the contractor for the most recently completed Excavation work in relation

to the landfill under Stage 2 Phase 1. The management and the Council members are of the view that the Council has reasonable

prospects of defending the Claim.

23. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (AIFRSs)

For reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2005, the Council will be required to prepare its annual financial report using

Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards and their related pronouncements (AIFRSs) as issued by the

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Council is required to prepare an opening balance sheet in accordance with AIFRSs as at 1 July 2004. Adjustments required on

transition to AIFRSs will be made retrospectively against opening retained earnings on 1 July 2004 in accordance with AIFRSs. Transitional

adjustments relating to those standards for which comparatives are not required will only be made with effect from 1 July 2005.

The transition to AIFRSs is being managed via a process of education which includes technical training and liaison with the Concil

auditors and industry groups. This has included a review of AIFRSs to determine the effect on the Council’s existing accounting policies

and treatments.

The annual financial report for the year ended 30 June 2005 has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and

other financial reporting requirements (Australian GAAP). However, the City is still assessing the impact of AIFRSs. Consequently in some

instances, quantified impacts of AIFRSs may not have been disclosed as disclosure of information may be misleading and not fully

represent the overall impact of transition.

Property, Plant and Equipment

AIFRSs provides an option to value each class of property, plant and equipment at either cost or fair value. At the transition date, the

Council has elected under AIFRSs transition rules to use cost.

It has been anticipated no adjustments to carrying values will result from the above approach. If they do, they will be recognized against

opening retained earnings or past revaluation reserves in the opening balance sheet.

Employee Benefits

AIFRSs require all long term employee benefits to be measured at present value and the Council’s existing policy is in line with this

requirement.

Impairment of Assets

Under AIFRSs, both current and non current assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. If this is not possible, the Council is

required to test for impairment at the “Cash Generating Unit:” (CGU) level.

It is anticipated the Council’s material assets will be able to be tested for impairment on an individual basis and the CGU level will not

apply.

Assets are tested for impairment where an impairment trigger (per AIFRSs) has occurred. Intangibles with indefinite useful lives will be

tested annually for impairment (or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate).

To the extent any impairment is determined, this will be recognized immediately in the operating statement. It is not anticipated any such

adjustment will be significant.

Intangibles

AIFRS now require the recognition of intangibles, although this is is not currently required under current Australian GAAP. The Council has

not identified any intangibles that will require adjustment to opening retained earnings.
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Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Under current Australian GAAP, financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at cost, at fair value or at net market value.

On adoption of AIFRSs, the Council will be required to classify these financial instruments into various specified categories (being either of

tradings assets, held to maturity investments, loans and receivables or available for sale financial assets). The classification of the

instrument determines the instrument’s subsequent measurement.

It is anticipated, based on definitions contained within AIFRSs, the Council’s financial assets and liabilities will be classified in the loans

and receivables category and will be measured at their initial recognition amount.

Based on reviews performed to date, it is not anticipated any such adjustments will be required.

However, in accordance with AIFRSs, such financial assets will be subject to annual impairment testing and to the extent any impairment

testing is determined, it will be recognised immediately in the operating statement.

Investment Property

Under current Australian GAAP, investment property is disclosed as land and buildings in the property, plant and equipment asset

classification. It is recognized at either cost, fair value or at net market value.

On adoption, the AIFRSs provide an option to value investment property at either cost or fair value. It is the current intention of the Council

to value investment property on the cost basis adjusted for any impairment balances.

It is not anticipated any adjustments will result from the above approach. If they do, they will be recognized against opening retained

earnings in the balance sheet.

24. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS       2004/2005              2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002 2000/2001

User Revenue to Total Tonnes : $33.69 $23.39 $22.95 $23.18 $20.82
Current Ratio : 2.64 0.37 0.31 0.28 1.20
Debt Ratio : 62.30% 60.47% 43.11% 49.03% 35.87%
Debt Servicing Ratio : 65.82% 52.99% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Operating Costs Per Tonne $27.93 $22.64 $20.45 $15.83 $15.15 
Plant Operation Costs Ex Depn $1.17 $1.17 $1.18 $0.94 $1.12 

Formulae for Calculation of Ratios:

( a ) User Revenue to Total Tonnes : User revenue 

Total Tonnes

- Expressed as an average dollar per tonne.

( b ) Current Ratio : (Current assets minus restricted assets)

Current Liabilities

( c )  Debt Ratio : Total liabilities

Total assets

( d ) Debt Servicing Ratio : Debt service cost

Available operating Revenue

( e ) Operating Costs Per Tonne: Operating Expenses (including Depreciation) 

Total Tonnes

( f ) Plant Operating Costs Per Tonne : Plant Operating Costs (excluding Depreciation)

Total Tonnes
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Ratio calculations 2004/2005 2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002 2000/2001

(a)   User Revenue to Total Tonnes : 33.69 23.39 22.95 23.18 20.82

User Revenue 11,235,105 7,686,246 7,337,508 7,686,720 7,063,830

Total Tonnes 333,436 328,655 319,756 331,576 339,285

(b)   Current Ratio : 2.6433 0.3678 0.3133 0.2833 1.2000

Current assets 5,431,293 4,678,899 7,656,202 8,313,892 5,707,296

Restricted assets (1,487,956) (3,486,563) (6,822,022) (7,367,911) (4,713,448)

3,943,337 1,192,336 834,180 945,981 993,848 

Current Liabilities 1,491,826 3,242,161 2,662,681 3,339,371 828,185 

(c) Debt Ratio : 62.30% 60.47% 43.11% 49.03% 35.87%

Current Liabilities 1,491,826 3,242,161 2,662,681 3,339,371 828,185 

Non Current liabilities 11,256,937 6,700,073 2,262,235 2,914,081 2,741,156 

Total liabilities 12,748,763 9,942,234 4,924,916 6,253,452 3,569,341 

Current assets 5,431,293 4,678,899 7,656,202 8,313,892 5,707,296 

Non current Assets 15,030,714 11,763,468 3,768,847 4,439,693 4,244,794 

Total assets 20,462,007 16,442,367 11,425,049 12,753,585 9,952,090 

7,713,244 6,500,133 6,500,133 6,500,133 6,382,749 

(d) Debt Servicing Ratio : 65.82% 52.99% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Principal 7,079,739 4,039,776 0 0 0

Interest 315,231 33,175 0 0 0

Debt Service Cost 7,394,970 4072951 0 0 0

Available Operating Revenue 11,235,105 7,686,246 7,337,508 7,686,720 7,063,830 

(e) Operating Costs Per Tonne: 27.93 22.64 20.45 15.83 15.15

Operating Expenses (incl depn) 9,312,449 7,442,049 6,538,456 5,247,534 5,139,357 

Total tonnes 333,436 328,655 319,756 331,576 339,285 

(f) Plant Operating Costs Per Tonne :

1.17 1.17 1.18 0.94 1.12

Plant Operating Costs (ex Depn) 389,500 386,070 378,820 311,492 378,561 

Total tonnes 333,436 328,655 319,756 331,576 339,285 

Operating Costs Per Tonne:

Direct operational Costs 5,207,324 4,766,316 4,239,794 3,031,464 2,828,810 

Provisions 806,755 604,357 196,332 185,862 237,725 

Amortisation of Accommodation 1,139,492 332,514 401,252 378,645 446,769 

DEP Landfill Levy 987,553 965,292 945,868 962,535 969,288 

Loan Interest 315,231 33175 0 0 0   

Depreciation 690,967 587,200 566,279 532,502 450,875 

Land Lease Fee 165,127 153,195 188,931 156,526 205,890 

Total 9,312,449 7,442,049 6,538,456 5,247,534 5,139,357 

Rebate 1,213,113 855,228 2,682,214 573,045 1,789,591 

10,525,562 8,297,277 9,220,670 5,820,579 6,928,948 

Transfer to Stage 2 landfill reserve -   - -   1,696,425 1,009,506 

               



Ratios/tonne 2,705,931

2004/2005 2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002 2000/2001

Direct operational Costs 15.62 14.50 13.26 9.14 8.34

Transfer to Reserves(Provisions) 2.42 1.84 0.61 0.56 0.70

Amortisation of Accommodation 3.42 1.01 1.25 1.14 1.32

Loan Interest 0.95 0.10 0.00 0.00 0.00

DEP Landfill Levy 2.96 2.94 2.96 2.90 2.86

Depreciation 2.07 1.79 1.77 1.61 1.33

Land Lease Fee 0.50 0.47 0.59 0.47 0.61

Total 27.93 22.64 20.45 15.83 15.15

Rebate 3.64 2.60 8.39 1.73 5.27

Transfer to Stage 2 landfill reserve 0 0 0 5.12 2.98
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The process continues...

  



Mindarie Regional Council
Waste Management Authority

The Recycling Centre at Tamala Park in the foreground and the Domestic Waste Transfer Station.



Mindarie Regional Council
Waste Management Authority
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Cities of Joondalup, Perth, Stirling, Wanneroo

Towns of Cambridge, Victoria Park, Vincent

Administration Office, Waste Disposal and Recycling Facility

Tamala Park, Lot 118 Marmion Avenue, Mindarie WA 6030

PO Box 538 Joondalup Western Australia 6919

Telephone (08) 9305 6942

Facsimile (08) 9305 6795

www.mrc.wa.gov.au
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